## Contents

Pseudospin Symmetry And Structure Of Nuclei With $Z \ge 100$ R. V. Jolos and V. V. Voronov	2
Generator Coordinate $Q_n$ - $Q_n$ Study Of Low-Lying Collective States In Neutron-	
Rich Oxygen Isotopes <i>A P</i> Severwykhin <i>M</i> Bender <i>H</i> Flocard and <i>P</i> - <i>H</i> Heenen	4
Spin Looppin Excitations And Nuclear Much Conture	G
V. A. Kuz'min and T. V. Tetereva	0
Development Of The WFM Method And The Nuclear Scissors Mode E. B. Balbutsev and P. Schuck	8
Nuclear Reactions And Nuclear Structure Within Dinuclear System Model G. G. Adamian, et. al.	10
Continuum Spectroscopy Of Two-Neutron Halo Nuclei S. N. Ershov	12
Microscopic Optical Potential For Nucleus-Nucleus Elastic And Inelastic Scattering	
At Intermediate Energies V. K. Lukyanov, et al.	14
Alpha Particles Accompanying Weak Decay Of ${}^{10}_{\Lambda}$ Be and ${}^{10}_{\Lambda}$ B Hypernuclei L. Majling, V. A. Kuz'min, and T. V. Tetereva	15
Properties Of The <sup>12</sup> C Nucleus Within The Framework Of The α-Cluster Model S. I. Fedotov, O. I. Kartavtsev, and A. V. Malykh	17
Suppression Of Quantum Scattering In Strongly Confined Systems J. I. Kim, V. S. Melezhik, and P. Schmelcher	19
Scattering Length For Helium Atom-Diatom Collision E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, and W. Sandhas	20
On Relativistic Analysis of the Exclusive Electrodisintegration of the Deuteron S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, A. A. Goy, WY. P. Hwang, E. P. Rogochaya	21
Equation Of State And Heavy-Ion Collisions	22
$\Theta^+$ Formation In Inclusive $\gamma D \to p K^- X$ Reactions A. I. Titov	24
List of publications	26

# PSEUDOSPIN SYMMETRY AND STRUCTURE OF NUCLEI WITH $Z \geq 100$

#### R. V. Jolos and V. V. Voronov

The pseudospin symmetry [1–3] is known as approximate symmetry of the nuclear mean field. This symmetry manifests itself as quasi-degenerate doublets in the nuclear excitation spectra. At the same time, the existence of this symmetry strongly depends on the strength of the spin-orbit interaction term of the nuclear mean field, and therefore, to the next proton magic number. The strong spin-orbit interaction in nuclei and the presence of approximate pseudospin symmetry in the nuclear mean field are two sides of the same medal.

Any dynamic symmetry implies the existence of a characteristic multiplet structure. These multiplets are characterized by a magnitude of the multiplet splitting. The characteristic magnitude of a splitting of the pseudospin doublets in spherical nuclei is of the order of  $0.1\hbar\omega_0$  where  $\hbar\omega_0$  is a frequency of the single particle oscillator.

Single particle pseudospin doublets in deformed nuclei are characterized by a projection of the pseudo-orbital momentum on the symmetry axis. The splittings of these doublets are several times smaller than in spherical nuclei. The doublet structure is also observed in the rotational bands of odd deformed nuclei based on the pseudospin singlets, i.e., on the states with the projection of the pseudo-orbital momentum on the symmetry axis equal to zero. The doublet structure in these bands arises as a result of coupling of an odd particle pseudospin and a total pseudo-orbital momentum. This pseudo-orbital momentum is a sum of a core rotational momentum and a pseudo-orbital momentum of an odd particle. A splitting of these doublets is quite small and equals several tens of keV.

These facts mean that a particle–core coupling term in a phenomenological nuclear Hamiltonian is pseudospin independent with good accuracy. For this reason, the spectra of odd deformed nuclei and especially rotational bands based on the pseudospin singlets are the most interesting objects to look for pseudospin symmetry manifestations.

In [4], we investigated a pseudospin dependence of the particle–core coupling term of the nuclear Hamiltonian. It was found that the pseudospin dependent part of the residual forces  $\delta V_{res}$  can be presented as

$$\delta V_{res}(\mathbf{r_1}, \mathbf{r_2}) = -2cb\chi \left( \mathbf{\tilde{l}_1} \cdot \mathbf{\tilde{s}_1} \right) \frac{\rho_0(r_1)}{\rho_{av}} \left( 1 - \frac{\rho_0(r_1)}{\rho_{av}} \right) \\ \times \frac{\rho_0(r_2)}{\rho_{av}} \left( 1 - \frac{\rho_0(r_2)}{\rho_{av}} \right) \sum_{\lambda,\mu} Y_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathbf{r_1}) Y^*_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathbf{r_2}).$$
(1)

where index "1" in (1) belongs to an odd particle whereas index "2" describes all other particles forming the core. The pseudospin independent analog of the Bohr–Mottelson particle–core coupling term with the radial form factor derived above is

$$\delta V_{res}(\mathbf{r_1}, \mathbf{r_2}) = -c^2 \chi \frac{\rho_0(r_1)}{\rho_{av}} \left( 1 - \frac{\rho_0(r_1)}{\rho_{av}} \right)$$
$$\times \frac{\rho_0(r_2)}{\rho_{av}} \left( 1 - \frac{\rho_0(r_2)}{\rho_{av}} \right) \sum_{\lambda,\mu} Y_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathbf{r_1}) Y^*_{\lambda,\mu}(\mathbf{r_2}). \tag{2}$$

Comparing (1) and (2) one can see that the strength of the interaction term (1) is  $2\frac{b}{c}\langle \tilde{\mathbf{i}}_i \cdot \tilde{\mathbf{s}}_i \rangle$ times smaller than that of the pseudospin independent particle–core coupling term. The matrix element of the particle–core interaction term in the Bohr–Mottelson model in the case of deformed nuclei can be estimated as ~2.3 MeV. Then a splitting of the pseudospin doublets in the rotational bands of odd nuclei is ~7 $\tilde{L}$  keV where  $\tilde{L}$  is a total pseudo–orbital momentum of a state. This estimate is in correspondence with experimentally observed splitting.

Some possibilities for experimental studies of the pseudospin symmetry manifestations in the spectra of odd nuclei with  $Z \ge 100$  were indicated in [4] as well.

- [1] A. Arima, M. Harvey, K. Shimizu, Phys. Lett. B 30, 517 (1969).
- [2] K. T. Hecht, A. Adler, Nucl. Phys. A **137**, 129 (1969).
- [3] J. N. Ginocchio, Phys. Rep. 414, 165 (2005).
- [4] R. V. Jolos, V. V. Voronov, Yad. Fiz. **70**, 812 (2007).

# GENERATOR COORDINATE $Q_n$ - $Q_p$ STUDY OF LOW-LYING COLLECTIVE STATES IN NEUTRON-RICH OXYGEN ISOTOPES

A. P. Severyukhin, M. Bender<sup>1</sup>, H. Flocard<sup>2</sup>, and P.-H. Heenen<sup>3</sup> <sup>1</sup>L'Espace de Structure Nucléaire Théorique, DAPNIA/SPhN, CEA Saclay, France <sup>2</sup>Centre de Spectrométrie Nucléaire et de Spectrométrie de Masse, Orsay, France <sup>3</sup>Service de Physique Nucléaire Théorique et Physique Mathématique, ULB, Brussels, Belgium

Experimental progress in the study of exotic nuclei stimulates new theoretical developments by opening a possibility for new collective modes which will affect the low-energy spectra of nuclei away from the  $\beta$ -stability line, among which are new deformation modes or a change of the magic numbers known in nuclei close to stability. The new phenomena are partly attributed to extreme isospin asymmetry. It is well known that the isoscalar quadrupole mode dominates the standard low-energy large-amplitude collective dynamics. How can it be affected by a neutron excess in neutron-rich nuclei ?

We have started such an exploration of this mode in  $^{20}$ O [1]. Our analysis was based on constrained Hartree-Fock-Bogoliubov (HFB) calculations performed with the Skyrme SLy4 interaction and a density-dependent zero-range pairing interaction. We consider i) a single constraint on the total axial quadrupole moment Q which generates a onedimensional deformation energy curve and ii) two independent neutron and proton quadrupole constraints generating a deformation energy surface. The HFB wave-functions for each set of values for the quadrupole moments are projected on good particle numbers (N,Z) and on the total angular momentum J.



Рис. 1: Nucleus <sup>20</sup>O; contour lines of the  $\{Q_n, Q_p\}$  deformation energy surface for J = 0. The curves are labelled by the absolute energy in MeV. The dashed line shows the deformation path associated with the standard isoscalar quadrupole constraint Q, where  $Q = Q_n + Q_p$ .

Finally, the properties of the ground and low-lying collective states were computed by a configuration mixing performed within the generator coordinate method [2]. Our results show that already for this neutron-rich nucleus the transition probabilities are modified when independent neutron and proton collective dynamics are allowed. Preliminary calculations [3] encouraged us to extend the calculation to all the oxygen isotope series.

- A.P. Severyukhin, M. Bender, H. Flocard, P.-H. Heenen, arXiv: nucl-th/0701033, submitted to Phys. Rev. C.
- [2] M. Bender, H. Flocard, P.-H. Heenen, Phys. Rev. C 68, 044321 (2003).
- [3] A. P. Severyukhin, M. Bender, H. Flocard, P.-H. Heenen, accepted to Phys. At. Nucl. (2007).

#### SPIN-ISOSPIN EXCITATIONS AND NUCLEAR MUON CAPTURE

V. A. Kuz'min and T. V. Tetereva<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Skobeltsyn Institute of Nuclear Physics, Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia

Distributions of the transition strength of spin-isospin operators  $\left(\sum_{k=1}^{A} \sigma_k t_k^{\pm,0}\right)$  over the

excitation energy in nuclei are studied experimentally in electromagnetic and hadronic processes [1]. Their low-energy part determines the rates of Gamow-Teller beta-decay, where  $\sigma t^{\pm}$  transition operators work.

In many nuclei the distribution of the reduced probability of GT transition,  $B^{-}(GT)$ , over the excitation energy (GT strength function) calculated within the RPA agreed well with the distributions extracted from the experimental cross sections of (p, n) reaction. The only discrepancy was found that experimental B(GT) summed over all states forms approximately 60% of the corresponding theoretical strength (the so called effect of missed or quenched GT strength) [1]. The coupling of particle-hole (1p-1h) and 2p-2hconfigurations is usually considered as the cause of shifting a large fraction of GT strength from the GT resonance to higher energies [1,2]. However, the comparison of energyweighted moments of the strength function calculated within the RPA, on the one hand, and within the "second" RPA or in the fragmentation approximation, on the other hand, shows that the transfer of a considerable fraction of the particle-hole transition strength to highly excited states, which may be caused by an interaction between the 1p-1h and 2p-2h configurations, must be accompanied by a large increase in the strength accounted for low-energy excited states and a decrease in their energies [3,4]. Therefore, the shift of the GT strength to higher energies should be produced by the interaction among the 1p-1h states only [4,5]. This interaction should mix the states in which the particle and hole levels are from the one major shell,  $\Delta N = 0$  states, and the 1p-1h states with particle and hole from different major shells,  $\Delta N \geq 2$  states. This specific feature of a nuclear effective spin-isospin interaction is necessary to explain the GT strength missing. The calculations with the corresponding effective interaction well reproduce the experimental GT strength function in a wide range of excitation energies [4, 5].

Such a feature of the residual interactions must also manifest itself in other processes with spin-isospin transitions involved. Our calculations [6] show that the total muon capture rate in nuclei depends mainly on spin-multipole nuclear transitions. Thus, the question of how different effective interactions influence the total OMC rates is of considerable interest. The calculations performed for medium nuclei ( $^{58,60,62}$ Ni,  $^{90}$ Zr, and  $^{116-124}$ Sn) with different residual interactions yield practically the same values of the total OMC rates, which are in good agreement with experimental data. In heavier nuclei ( $^{140}$ Ce and  $^{208}$ Pb) theoretical total OMC rates exhibit a noticeable dependence on the residual interactions and considerably exceed experimental values. The discrepancy between the theory and experiment becomes the largest if one uses the residual interaction which mixes intensively  $\Delta N = 0$  and  $\Delta N \geq 2$  particle-hole states [6]. Transitions to the high-lying 1<sup>+</sup> states provide the largest part of the excess.

The immediate comparison of the manifestations of spin-isospin transitions in different processes is possible in N = Z nuclei. The isovector  $0^+ \rightarrow 1^+$  transitions with different isospin projections were observed in the reactions  ${}^{28}\text{Si}(\mu,\nu){}^{28}\text{Al}$ ,  ${}^{28}\text{Si}(e,e'){}^{28}\text{Si}$ , and  ${}^{28}\text{Si}(p,n){}^{28}\text{P}$ . The calculations [7] show that for the fastest transitions there is

a close agreement with experimental values of both the partial OMC rates and the reduced probabilities of magnetic dipole transitions, but theoretical B(GT)'s overestimate considerably the values obtained from the (p, n) reaction.

The analysis presented in [5] revealed that the distributions of the GT transition strength over the excitation energies extracted from (p, n) reactions and from the OMC rates are at variance. Probably, the relation between the cross sections of charge-exchange reactions and B(GT) is quite complicated even for the strong GT transitions and the determination of B(GT) from the cross sections of (p, n) and similar reactions needs to be reexamined.

- [1] F. Osterfeld, Rev. Mod. Phys. 64, 491 (1992).
- [2] S. Drożdź, S. Nishizaki, J. Speth, and J. Wambach, Phys. Rep. 197, 1 (1988).
- [3] V. A. Kuz'min, Theor. Math. Phys. 70, 223 (1987).
- [4] K. Junker, V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, Eur. Phys. J. A 5, 37 (1999).
- [5] V. A. Kuz'min and T. V. Tetereva, Phys. Part. Nucl. 37, 268 (2006).
- [6] V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, K. Junker, and A. A. Ovchinnikova, J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 28, 665 (2002).
- [7] V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, Phys. At. Nucl. 63, 1874 (2000);
   V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, K. Junker, *ibid.* 64, 1241 (2001).

### DEVELOPMENT OF THE WFM METHOD AND THE NUCLEAR SCISSORS MODE

## E. B. Balbutsev and P. Schuck<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Institut de Physique Nucléaire, Orsay, France

To understand the place of the method of Wigner Function Moments (WFM) among various methods describing the collective motion, the detailed comparison of the WFM with the Random Phase Approximation (RPA) and the Green Function (GF) methods was performed in [1-3]. This comparison was exemplified by the Harmonic Oscillator plus Quadrupole–Quadrupole (HO+QQ) force model. Under certain circumstances all three methods give essentially the same results. For example, all methods give in our model the same analytical expressions for energies and transition probabilities for all the excitations considered. It turns out that the WFM and GF methods are very close to one another. Contrary to RPA, both work in phase space and incorporate semiclassical aspects, with no need to introduce a single particle basis. Finally, both the methods yield identical sets of dynamical equations for the moments. For the harmonic oscillator with multipolemultipole residual interaction of arbitrary rank (multipolarity) the equations of both the methods can be derived without any approximations – the interaction of the multipolarity n generates a set of dynamic equations for tensors (moments) of the rank n. However, in the case of realistic forces the GF method loses its simplicity, whereas the WFM method continues to be a convenient and powerful tool for description of collective motions, as it was demonstrated in [4] by employing Skyrme forces.

The exact relation between the RPA and WFM variables and the respective dynamic equations were found. The analytical equivalence between the WFM and RPA methods was established by introducing the dynamic equations for transition matrix elements. They can be derived either from the RPA equations for the amplitudes  $X_{kq}, Y_{kq}$  or from the WFM dynamic equations for the moments. This proves the identity of eigenvalues in both the methods under the condition that a complete basis is used in both the cases. However, both the methods behave differently when the dimension of the space is reduced. Actually, the WFM is designed to use only rather a few moments of low rank. The restricted number of eigenvalues approximate the collective states in an optimal way, representing their strengths and centroid positions, as this was shown in [4]. On the contrary, in the RPA one needs in general rather large space to correctly account for the collectivity of, e.g., giant resonances. At the same time, a certain fine structure of the resonances is also obtained. Both the methods are thus complementary.

An interesting situation is observed for currents. In the RPA the current lines can even in the simple HO+QQ model be calculated only numerically (and only approximately because of the basis truncation) whereas by the WFM and GF methods they are found exactly.

The WFM method was generalized to take into account the pairing correlations in Ref. [5]. The equations of motion for angular momentum, quadrupole moment and other relevant collective variables were derived on the basis of the time dependent Hartree-Fock-Bogoliubov equations. Analytical expressions for energy centroids and transitions probabilities are found for HO+QQ model with the monopole pairing force. Deformation dependence of energies and B(M1) values are correctly reproduced. The inclusion of pairing leads to a drastic improvement in the description of qualitative and quantitative characteristics of the scissors mode, which is demonstrated in the figure, where the calculated scissors mode energies  $E_{sc}$  and transition probabilities B(M1) are compared with experimental data [6] for most of the nuclei where this mode is observed.



Рис. 1: Energies and transition probabilities of the scissors mode as a function of atomic number. th – full theory with pairing, I – the pairing gap is included but the deformation of the pairing field is not taken into account, II – theory without pairing.

- [1] E. B. Balbutsev and P. Schuck, Phys. At. Nucl. 68, 1497 (2005).
- [2] E. B. Balbutsev and P. Schuck, Phys. At. Nucl. 69, 1985 (2006).
- [3] E. B. Balbutsev and P. Schuck, arXiv:nucl-th/0602031, 2006; Annals of Phys. 322, 489 (2007).
- [4] E. B. Balbutsev, Sov. J. Part. Nucl., **22**, 159 (1991).
- [5] E. B. Balbutsev, P. Schuck, M. Urban and X. Viñas, arXiv:nucl-th/0701039, 2007.
- [6] N. Pietralla et al., Phys. Rev. C 58, 184 (1998).

## NUCLEAR REACTIONS AND NUCLEAR STRUCTURE WITHIN DINUCLEAR SYSTEM MODEL G. G. Adamian, A. V. Andreev, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova<sup>1</sup>, R. V. Jolos, S. N. Kuklin, T. M. Shneidman, and A. S. Zubov

<sup>1</sup>University Center, JINR, Dubna, Russia

The theoretical model for describing the fusion of heavy nuclei, quasifission and transfer reactions was developed within the dinuclear system (DNS) concept. In this model, the fusion and quasifission are assumed as diffusion processes in the mass asymmetry  $\eta = (A_1 - A_2)/(A_1 + A_2)$  ( $A_1$  and  $A_2$  are the mass numbers of the DNS nuclei) and internuclear distance R, respectively. The yields of transfer-type products accompanying cold fusion reactions were calculated in [1]. The cross section for these products increases with decreasing in neutron number of the projectile. Some of the products emit alpha particles with quite large energies which are comparable with energies of alpha particles emitted from superheavy nuclei. The measurement of the yield of transfer-type products in cold fusion reactions and the comparison with the theoretical predictions would be important for understanding the mechanism of fusion.

The decay of the DNS from the configurations more asymmetric than the initial one can result in unknown isotopes of the heaviest nuclei in actinide-based reactions (see [2]). In the reactions  ${}^{48}\text{Ca}+{}^{238}\text{U}$ ,  ${}^{243}\text{Am}$ , and  ${}^{244,246,248}\text{Cm}$  one can produce new isotopes of superheavies with Z = 104 - 108 which are not reachable in hot and cold complete fusion reactions with stable projectiles and targets. The production of these isotopes is also important for experimental identification of superheavy nuclei. The methods elaborated to describe asymmetry-exit-channel quasifission reactions are suitable for the analysis of production of various exotic nuclei, for example, of neutron-rich light nuclei.

The results of calculations show that the production cross sections of neutron-rich nuclei  ${}^{52,54,56,58,60}$ Ca in the  ${}^{48}$ Ca $+{}^{197}$ Au reaction are much smaller than in the  ${}^{48}$ Ca $+{}^{238}$ U reaction [3,4]. Combining these results with our calculations of the diffusive nucleon transfer reactions  ${}^{48}$ Ca $+{}^{124}$ Sn, ${}^{232}$ Th, ${}^{248}$ Cm one can conclude that the production cross sections of neutron-rich isotopes of Ca increase with the charge (mass) number of the target in the transfer reactions with  ${}^{48}$ Ca beam. This effect is quite strong and should be taken into consideration in the planned experiments. The reactions with actinide targets seem to be preferable. In the diffusive nucleon transfer reactions the production of a nucleus near the neutron drip line increases with the value of  $E_{\rm c.m.}$  up to the moment when the excitation energy of this exotic nucleus reaches the threshold for neutron emission. Therefore, the neutron separation energies for the unknown isotopes can be estimated by measuring their excitation functions.

Using the statistical model and recent theoretical predictions of nuclear properties, survival probabilities of superheavy nuclei with respect to the xn evaporation channel (x = 1 - 4) were calculated in [5]. Level densities of the Fermi-gas model and of a model with collective enhancement were used. The survival probabilities and the fusion cross-sections calculated within the DNS model were applied to obtain excitation functions of No isotopes in the reactions  ${}^{48}\text{Ca}{+}^{204,206,208}\text{Pb}$  and production cross-sections of superheavy nuclei with Z > 102 in cold and hot fusion reactions. The results are in good agreement with the available experimental data.

The cluster interpretation of collective low-lying alternative parity states of the nuclei with  $Z \ge 96$  was suggested in [6]. Within the cluster approach the  $\alpha$ -cluster configuration

gives a significant contribution to wave functions of low-energy nuclear states. The energies of the low-lying states of the even-even as well as the odd heaviest nuclei whose parity is opposite to the parity of the ground state were predicted. The lowest energies of these states are about 600–900 keV and 300–600 keV for the even-even and odd nuclei, respectively. The observation of these states would be a crucial test of correctness of the suggested approach. Our predictions for spectra and intrinsic transition multipole moments are helpful for the present and future experimental works regarding the spectroscopy of superheavy nuclei.

The cluster decay process involves the motion in mass asymmetry coordinate  $\eta$  and the relative separation coordinate R. Using the decay probabilities of the DNS by tunneling through the barrier in nucleus-nucleus potential and the calculated spectroscopic factors, half-lives of cluster decays were obtained in [7].

Within our cluster approach it was shown that the bimodality or multimodality of fission can be related to variations of the charge and mass splittings in the small interval of charge and mass numbers [8]. The suggested explanation of bimodal fission is rather simple and allows us to describe well the available experimental data. Based on potential energy calculations of ternary systems at scission and on statistical analysis the model of ternary fission was developed in [9]. The formation of the ternary system is considered as the second step after the formation of the binary system by means of extracting one or several  $\alpha$ -particles and neutrons from one or both binary fragments in the region of their interaction. Within the model, the charge distributions for fission of the heavy nucleus <sup>252</sup>Cf and the light nucleus <sup>56</sup>Ni accompanied by various light charged particles were described.

- [1] G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, Phys. Rev. C 72, 064617 (2005).
- [2] G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, A. S. Zubov, Phys. Rev. C 71, 034603 (2005).
- [3] Yu. E. Penionzhkevich, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, Phys. Lett. B 621, 119 (2005).
- [4] Yu. E. Penionzhkevich, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, Eur. Phys. J. A 27, 187 (2006).
- [5] A. S. Zubov, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, W. Scheid, Eur. Phys. J. A 23, 249 (2005).
- [6] T. M. Shneidman, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, R. V. Jolos, Phys. Rev. C 74, 034316 (2006).
- [7] S. N. Kuklin, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, Phys. Rev. C 71, 014301 (2005).
- [8] A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, Eur. Phys. J. A 26, 327 (2005).
- [9] A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. N. Kuklin, S. P. Ivanova, W. Scheid, Eur. Phys. J. A 30, 579 (2006).

## CONTINUUM SPECTROSCOPY OF TWO-NEUTRON HALO NUCLEI

#### S. N. Ershov

One of the most interesting questions in the physics of radioactive beams is that of the structure of halo nuclei at the limits of nuclear existence. In Borromean two-neutron halo nuclei, like <sup>6</sup>He and <sup>11</sup>Li, the nature of the three-body continuum is currently most intriguing. The concentration of transition strength, experimentally observed in these nuclei at low excitation energy, may contain information on three-body resonances or new kinds of collective motion, such as a soft dipole mode corresponding to oscillations of the core against the halo neutrons. The continuum is usually explored via responses induced by transitions from the ground state to the continuum. A viable way to study the continuum properties is to explore nuclear reactions under conditions where one-step transitions dominate. This is, however, still a rather comprehensive task, because of the intertwining of the ground state and continuum structures, influenced by reaction mechanisms.

Due to the unstable nature of halo nuclei their experimental studies have so far been performed by reactions involving collisions in inverse kinematics. The theoretical analysis of such reactions involves the strong nucleon-nucleon interactions. The strength and complicated character of strong interactions bring ambiguities in disentangling the reaction mechanism and nuclear structure. In spite of a considerable amount of nuclear structure information on halo nuclei extracted from collisions with other nuclei, cleaner ways to study aspects of their structures are greatly needed. Thus, a theory for electron scattering from Borromean two-neutron halo nuclei with full inclusion of final state interactions was developed in [1]. The halo nucleus was described as a three-body system. Nuclear wave functions for bound state and low-lying three-body continuum excitations were calculated by the method of hyperspherical harmonics. The model was applied to explore electron scattering on <sup>6</sup>He leading to nuclear excitations near the three-body breakup threshold.

The task of continuum spectroscopy is to determine which modes of nuclear excitations are dominant at given excitation energy or in some region of excitation energies. In kinematically complete experiments, in parallel to the excitation spectrum, we can study many different angular and energy correlations between fragments. Thus continuum spectroscopy implies a consistent analysis of a variety of exclusive and inclusive cross sections accessible in kinematically complete experiments. Experimental data on different angular and energy correlations of the three fragments from breakup of <sup>6</sup>He on lead target at collision energy 240 MeV/nucleon, obtained recently at GSI, reveal a very interesting picture. The low-energy spectrum of <sup>6</sup>He shows a smooth behaviour, while with increasing excitation energy, the shape of some correlations changes dramatically along the spectrum. Energy- and angular correlation distributions of the three fragments in <sup>6</sup>He were discussed in [2] within the microscopic four-body distorted wave model and compared with experimental data. The calculations describe the experimental data for fragment correlations near the breakup threshold rather well and the physics is contained in a few elementary modes, but with increasing excitation energy of <sup>6</sup>He some striking deviations from experimental distributions are encountered. Possible reasons for this were pointed out.

- [1] S. N. Ershov, B. V. Danilin, J. S. Vaagen, Phys. Rev. C 72, 044606 (2005).
- [2] S. N. Ershov, B. V. Danilin, J. S. Vaagen, Phys. Rev. C 74, 014603 (2006).

## MICROSCOPIC OPTICAL POTENTIAL FOR NUCLEUS-NUCLEUS ELASTIC AND INELASTIC SCATTERING AT INTERMEDIATE ENERGIES

V. K. Lukyanov, K. V. Lukyanov<sup>1</sup>, E. V. Zemlyanaya<sup>1</sup>, K. M. Hanna<sup>2</sup>, Z. Metawei<sup>3</sup>, and B. Słowiński<sup>4,5</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Laboratory of Information Technology, JINR, Dubna, Russia
 <sup>2</sup> Math. and Theor. Phys. Dept., NRC, Atomic Energy Authority, Cairo, Egypt
 <sup>3</sup> Physics Department, Faculty of Science, Cairo University, Giza, Egypt
 <sup>4</sup> Faculty of Physics, Warsaw University of Technology, Warsaw, Poland
 <sup>5</sup> Institute of Atomic Energy, Otwock-Swierk, Poland

The double-folding (DF) microscopic model of an optical nucleus-nucleus potential was suggested in [1], where a dependence on the energy and atomic numbers of colliding nuclei was taken into account. Basing on this model a set of potentials  $U_{opt} = N_r V^{DF} + i N_{im} W^{DF}$ was obtained in [1, 2], where only the pairs of strength coefficients  $N_r$ ,  $N_{im}$  were fitted to experimental data [3,4] on elastic scattering of the <sup>16,17</sup>O heavy ions at energies E about 100 MeV/nucleon off different target-nuclei. When calculating the corresponding differential cross-sections, the high-energy approximation (HEA) method [5] developed for nucleus-nucleus scattering was applied. Then, the obtained potentials for elastic scattering were used to get the transition potentials and to calculate inelastic scattering with excitations of low lying collective states of nuclei with  $E_{ex} \ll E$ . The corresponding HEA amplitudes were constructed basing on the adiabatic approach and using rotational wave functions [6].

The results [7] were compared with the experimental data from [4] and the adjusted deformation parameters were established. These examples show that one achieves the fairly good agreement with experimental data introducing no more than two normalization parameters of the microscopic optical potential. Thus, the suggested model has encouraging perspectives for application in further analysis of experimental data.

Figure 1 shows a comparison of the experimental data with the results of calculations of elastic and inelastic differential cross sections with excitations of  $2^+$  collective states in the target-nuclei.

- [1] V. K. Lukyanov, E. V. Zemlyanaya, K. V. Lukyanov, Phys. At. Nucl. 69, 240 (2006).
- [2] E. V. Zemlyanaya, V. K. Lukyanov, K. V. Lukyanov, B. Słowiński, K. M. Hanna, Izv. RAN, ser. fiz., 69, 1649 (2005).
- [3] P. Roussel-Chomaz, et al., Nucl. Phys. A 477, 345 (1988).
- [4] R. L. Neto, et al., Nucl.Phys. A 560, 733 (1993).
- [5] V. K. Lukyanov, Phys. At. Nucl. **69**, 1033 (2006).
- [6] V. K. Lukyanov, Z. Metawei, E. V. Zemlyanaya, Phys. At. Nucl. 69, 1400 (2006).
- K. M. Hanna, K. V. Lukyanov, V. K. Lukyanov, Z. Metawei, B. Słowiński,
   E. V. Zemlyanaya, Part. Nucl., Letters, 3, No.6 (135), 105 (2006).



Рис. 1: Elastic (upper row) and inelastic (bottom row) differential cross sections for reactions  ${}^{17}\text{O}+{}^{60}\text{Ni},{}^{90}\text{Zr}$  at  $\text{E}_{lab}=1435$  MeV calculated in [7]. The parameters  $N_r$  and  $N_{im}$  of the DF microscopic optical potentials are equal to 0.6 and 0.6 for  ${}^{60}\text{Ni}$ , and 0.6, 0.5 for  ${}^{90}\text{Zr}$ . Nuclear deformation is  $\beta_n = 0.4$  ( ${}^{60}\text{Ni}$ ) and  $\beta_n = 0.16$  ( ${}^{90}\text{Zr}$ ). Experimental data are from [4].

# ALPHA PARTICLES ACCOMPANYING WEAK DECAY OF $^{10}_{\Lambda}{\rm Be}$ AND $^{10}_{\Lambda}{\rm B}$ HYPERNUCLEI

L. Majling<sup>1</sup>, V. A. Kuz'min, and T. V. Tetereva<sup>2</sup> <sup>1</sup>Nuclear Physics Institute ASCR, Řež, Czech Republic <sup>2</sup>Skobeltsyn Institute of Nuclear Physics, Moscow State University, Moscow, Russia Hypernuclei are a convenient laboratory to study the baryon-baryon weak interaction and the associated effective weak Hamiltonian. The strangeness changing process, in which a  $\Lambda$ -hyperon in nuclear matter converts into a neutron with a release of up to 176 MeV, provides a clear signal for a conversion of an *s*-quark to a *d*-quark.

It was proposed [1] to use the unique feature of the <sup>9</sup>Be nucleus: after removing a neutron from its ground state several groups of  $\alpha$ -particles appear from different excited states of the residual nucleus <sup>8</sup>Be. Due to their salient cluster structure  $-\alpha\alpha N\Lambda$  — it may be possible to measure in the <sup>10</sup><sub> $\Lambda$ </sub>Be and <sup>10</sup><sub> $\Lambda$ </sub>B hypernuclei the partial "alpha-decay widths"  $\Gamma^{n(p)}_{\alpha\alpha i}$  corresponding to states of the residual nucleus <sup>8</sup>Be( $E_i; J_i^{\pi}, T_i$ ) which decays through the  $\alpha\alpha$ -channel. These branching fractions  $\Gamma^{n(p)}_{\alpha\alpha i}$  depend on various combinations of four matrix elements; hence, their study offers a unique possibility of determining all needed matrix elements of the weak interaction and in such a way localizing the difficulties of the hypernuclear nonmesonic decay puzzle.

The calculations [2] have shown that measurement of the partial widths  $\Gamma_{\alpha\alpha i}^{n(p)}$  of the decays of the  ${}^{10}_{\Lambda}$ Be and  ${}^{10}_{\Lambda}$ B hypernuclei into the  $(0^+, 0)_{g.s.}$ ,  $(2^+, 0)_{1,2}$ ,  $(2^+, 1)_1$ , and  $(1^+, 1)_1$  states of <sup>8</sup>Be will make it possible to determine all the matrix elements of the effective weak interaction  $\Lambda N \to nN$  which are necessary to describe the weak nonmesonic decays of any *p*-shell hypernucleus. The dependence of the theoretical widths  $\Gamma_{\alpha\alpha i}^{n(p)}$  on the nuclear models used in the calculations was studied, too. It was shown that the neutron spectroscopic factors calculated with wave functions of the relevant states of the <sup>8</sup>Be and <sup>9</sup>Be nuclei depend only slightly on the used residual interactions.

Having at our disposal a set of data on weak decays into several states of <sup>8</sup>Be, we found combinations that carry bulk of information about weak  $\Lambda N$ -interaction. We showed [2] that using some additional approximations one can relate the ratios of the  $\alpha$ -decay widths for the isodoublet of the <sup>10</sup><sub>\Lambda</sub>Be and <sup>10</sup><sub>\Lambda</sub>B hypernuclei to the calculated features of the nonmesonic decays of the <sup>4</sup><sub>\Lambda</sub>H and <sup>4</sup><sub>\Lambda</sub>He hypernuclei and thereby to choose an adequate model for weak  $\Lambda N$ -interaction.

So it is shown how the nuclear structure aspects of the problem, often an unwelcome detail of calculations attempting to understand a basic two-body  $\Lambda N \rightarrow nN$  interaction, can be used to pick out components of the effective weak Hamiltonian.

Recently, the JINR Nuclotron has supplied the first extracted beam of medium energy ions. This opens new opportunities of performing hypernuclear experiments. With the new trigger tuned to search for two  $\alpha$ -particles, the branching fractions  $\Gamma^n_{\alpha\alpha i}(^{10}_{\Lambda}\text{Be})$  and  $\Gamma^p_{\alpha\alpha i}(^{10}_{\Lambda}\text{B})$  will be measured [3].

- L. Majling, Yu. A. Batusov, Yad. Fiz. 64, 1228 (2001); L. Majling, Yu. A. Batusov, Nucl. Phys. A 691, 185c (2001).
- [2] L. Majling, V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, Yad. Fiz. **69**, 838 (2006).
- [3] Yu. A. Batusov, J. Lukstins, L. Majling, A. N. Parfenov, Phys. Part. Nucl. 36, 319 (2005).

## PROPERTIES OF THE <sup>12</sup>C NUCLEUS WITHIN THE FRAMEWORK OF THE $\alpha$ -CLUSTER MODEL

S. I. Fedotov, O. I. Kartavtsev<sup>1</sup>, and A. V. Malykh <sup>1</sup> Dzhelepov Laboratory of Nuclear Problems, JINR, Dubna, Russia

A variety of low-energy nuclear properties can be successfully described within the framework of the  $\alpha$ -cluster model. The effective two-body and, for more than two  $\alpha$ -particles, at least three-body potentials must be determined as an input for the model. The calculations of the three- $\alpha$  scattering provide important information on the effective  $\alpha - \alpha$  interactions which is of interest for the  $\alpha$ -cluster calculations. Thus, the effective potentials should be chosen by fitting the main characteristics of the <sup>12</sup>C nucleus to the experimental values. Of particular importance is the description of the ultra-narrow near-threshold three-body resonance (0<sup>+</sup><sub>2</sub> state), which is responsible for the helium burning in stars. During the last years, also the wide 0<sup>+</sup><sub>3</sub> resonance state of <sup>12</sup>C is under experimental and theoretical study.

In Ref. [1], properties of the lowest  $0^+$  states in <sup>12</sup>C were calculated to study a role of the three-body interactions in the  $\alpha$ -cluster model. The <sup>12</sup>C nucleus was treated as a system of three  $\alpha$ -particles. The main question to be answered was to what extent the  $\alpha$ -cluster model is able to reproduce the experimental energies and sizes of the corresponding states. A more challenging problem was to describe the fine characteristics, such as the width  $\Gamma$  of the near-threshold  $0^+_2$  state and monopole  $0^+_2 \rightarrow 0^+_1$  transition matrix element  $M_{12}$ , which are extremely sensitive to the choice of the potentials. Furthermore, the effective three-body interactions could be used to take into account the non- $\alpha$ -cluster structure of the nucleus at short distances in addition to the effect of  $\alpha$ -particle distortions at large distances. Clearly, the choice of the effective two-body and three-body potentials must be governed by the results of the three-body calculations aimed at optimal description of the <sup>12</sup>C characteristics.



Рис. 1: Relation between the parameters of the three-body effective potential  $V_3(\rho) = V_0 e^{-\rho^2/b_0^2} + V_1 e^{-\rho^2/b_1^2}$ .

The method of calculation was based on the expansion of the total wave function in a series of eigenfunctions on the hyper-sphere that provides an accurate determination of fine characteristics of <sup>12</sup>C. Calculations were performed for the two families of local twobody potentials, which provide the experimental energy of the  $\alpha$ - $\alpha$  resonance (the ground state of <sup>8</sup>Be). The first family of the two-body potentials with a soft repulsive core used provides the width of the  $\alpha$ - $\alpha$  resonance in the range 6.4 eV  $\leq \gamma \leq 6.8$  eV and there was



Рис. 2: Relation between the width  $\Gamma$  of the  $0_2^+$  state and the monopole  $0_2^+ \to 0_1^+$  transition matrix element  $M_{12}$ . The point with error-bars shows the experimental data.

no special care to describe experimental  $\alpha - \alpha$  scattering phase shift. The second family of the two-body potentials with a comparatively hard repulsive core provides the <sup>8</sup>Be width within the limits 5.57 eV  $\leq \gamma \leq 5.82$  eV and a good description of the  $\alpha$ - $\alpha$  scattering phase shift up to the energy  $E_{cm} < 12$  MeV.

Given the two-body potential, one constructs a one-parameter set of the three-body potentials which reproduce the experimental energies of the ground and excited 0<sup>+</sup> states and the ground-state root-mean-square radius of <sup>12</sup>C. The relations between the parameters (the strengths  $V_{0,1}$  and the ranges  $b_{0,1}$ ) of the effective three-body potentials are exemplified in Fig. 1. Using a particular set of the three-body potentials, one obtains the different sets of calculated  $\Gamma$  and  $M_{12}$ . The relations between  $\Gamma$  and  $M_{12}$  are depicted in Fig. 2 by the dashed and solid lines for the first and second family of two-body potentials, respectively. One should mention that a change of the parameter  $b_0$  within the interval 4 fm  $< b_0 < 6$  fm corresponds to a change of the width within the interval 5 eV  $< \Gamma < 20$  eV.

[1] S. I. Fedotov, O. I. Kartavtsev, A. V. Malykh, Eur. Phys. J. A 26, 201 (2005).

## SUPPRESSION OF QUANTUM SCATTERING IN STRONGLY CONFINED SYSTEMS

J. I. Kim<sup>1</sup>, V. S. Melezhik, and P. Schmelcher<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Universidade Federal de São Paulo, Diadema, SP, Brazil

<sup>2</sup> Physikalisches Institut and Theoretische Chemie, Institut für Physikalische Chemie,



We have found [1] that the atom-atom interaction or the scattering of an electron off a fixed impurity can be virtually switched off by the impact of a geometrical confinement. By tuning the width  $a_{\perp} = \sqrt{\hbar/\mu\omega}$  of optical or magnetic trap  $U(\rho) = \frac{1}{2}\mu\omega^2\rho^2$  one can turn off the ultracold atom-atom scattering in the confining trap. This happens if the fundamental atom-atom two-body interaction is rather strong and the two-body *s*- and *p*- scattering lengths  $a_s \sim -a_p$  reach the order of the confinement width  $a_{\perp} = 1.45a_s$ . By using the scattering on the screened Coulomb potential  $V(r) = V_0 \frac{r_0}{r} \exp\{-\frac{r}{r_0}\}$  as an example, the figure illustrates how the harmonic trap can transform the pure *p*-wave resonance in the 3D free space to the free particles flow in the quasi-1D geometry. At that, the maximum in the 3D scattering cross section  $\sigma(E)$  (at the point  $a_p \to \mp \infty$ ) transforms into the minimum of the reflection coefficient *R*, describing the particle flow in a quasi-1D trap, if  $a_{\perp} = 1.45a_s$  and  $a_s \sim -a_p$ .

This effect might be useful for improving the sensitivity of guided atom interferometers, for controlling properties of quasi-1D quantum gases and decreasing the heat dissipation in tiny electronic devices.

[1] J. I. Kim, V. S. Melezhik, P. Schmelcher, Phys. Rev. Lett. 97, 193203 (2006).

### SCATTERING LENGTH FOR HELIUM ATOM-DIATOM COLLISION

E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, and W. Sandhas<sup>1</sup> <sup>1</sup>Physikalisches Institut, Universität Bonn, Bonn, Germany

The two-body scattering length in a dilute gas of alkali atoms can be varied by changing the external magnetic field close to a Feshbach resonance. In this way, one may force the two-body s-wave scattering length to go from positive to negative values through infinity. Therefore, the magnetic field is an appropriate tool in modeling the Efimov effect which was experimentally observed in an ultracold gas of caesium atoms by Kraemer et al. [1] (see also [2]) more than 35 years from the initial prediction [3]. Recall that this effect occurs in case of infinite two-body scattering lengths, manifesting itself in an infinite number of three-body bound states. The role of the magnetic field combined with a Feshbach resonance may be mimicked by varying the coupling constant (a multiplying factor  $\lambda$ ) of the two-body interaction within a three-body system that is not necessarily subject to a magnetic field. In this context the system of three helium atoms appears to be the best candidate. Actually, it was shown that the excited state of the <sup>4</sup>He trimer was already of Efimov nature. To get the complete Efimov effect, it suffices to weaken the He–He interatomic potential only by about 3%.

- [1] T. Kraemer et al., Nature **440**, 315 (2006).
- [2] B. D. Esry, C. H. Greene, Nature **440**, 289 (2006).
- [3] V. Efimov, Phys. Lett. B **33**, 563 (1970).
- [4] E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, W. Sandhas, Few-Body Syst. 38, 205 (2006).

## ON RELATIVISTIC ANALYSIS OF THE EXCLUSIVE ELECTRODISINTEGRATION OF THE DEUTERON

S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, A. A. Goy<sup>2</sup>, W.-Y. P. Hwang<sup>3</sup>,

and E. P. Rogochaya

<sup>2</sup> Far Eastern National University, Vladivostok, Russia <sup>3</sup> National Taiwan University, Taipei, Taiwan

The electrodisintegration of the deuteron in the framework of the Bethe-Salpeter approach with a separable kernel of the nucleon-nucleon interaction was considered. This conception keeps the covariance of a description of the process. Firstly, the relativistic impulse approximation in the plane-wave approximation was investigated. The factorization of the cross section of the reaction was obtained analytically. It was shown that the photonneutron interaction plays an important role. Then the contribution of the final-state interaction to the differential cross-section of exclusive deuteron electrodisintegration was considered. The Bethe-Salpeter formalism with a phenomenological rank-one separable interaction was used for the final *np*-pair vertex obtained by analyzing the phase-shifts in every partial-wave channel for J=0,1. The approximations made were the neglect of twobody exchange currents, negative-energy components of the bound-state vertex function, and the scattering T matrix. The effects of the final-state interaction with J=0.1 were discussed. The relativistic results were compared with the nonrelativistic ones both in the plane-wave approximation and in every partial-wave channel. It was found that the relativistic effects change the magnitude of the final-state interaction from several per cent to several tens of per cent.

- S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, E. P. Rogochaya, A. A. Goy, arXiv: nucl-th/0611028, 2006; to be published in the Proceedings of the 9th Intern. Workshop "Relativistic Nuclear Physics: from hundreds MeV to TeV" (Modra Harmonia, Slovakia, May 22-27, 2006).
- [2] S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, E. P. Rogochaya, A. A. Goy, to be published in the Proceedings of the XVIII Intern. Baldin Seminar on High Energy Physics Problems "Relativistic Nuclear Physics and Quantum Chromodynamics" (Dubna, Russia, September 25-30, 2006).

### EQUATION OF STATE AND HEAVY-ION COLLISIONS

#### V. D. Toneev

Mainly two related issues of relativistic nuclear physics were investigated during this time: the equation of state (EoS) of hot and dense nuclear matter and its manifestation in dynamics of heavy ion collisions.

Based on the quasiparticle description of the QCD medium at finite temperature and density we formulate the phenomenological model for the equation of state that exhibits crossover or the first order deconfinement phase transition [1]. The models are constructed so as to be thermodynamically consistent and satisfy the properties of the ground state nuclear matter complying with constraints from intermediate heavy-ion collision data. As exemplified in Fig. 1, our equations of states show quite reasonable agreement with the recent lattice findings on the temperature and baryon chemical potential dependence of the relevant thermodynamic quantities in the parameter range covering both the hadronic and quark-gluon sectors.



Рис. 1: Temperature dependence of the reduced pressure  $(p(\mu_B) - p(0))/T^4$  at the baryon chemical potential  $\mu_B = 210, 330, 410$  and 530 MeV (from the bottom) within two-phase (left panel) and mixed phase (right panel) models. Points are lattice data for the (2+1)-flavor system (Z.Fodor et al., 2002).

It is shown that the model predictions on the isentropic trajectories in the phase diagram are consistent with the recent lattice results. When our EoS is extrapolated to conditions of neutron stars ( $T = 0, \beta$  equilibrium matter), this agreement with the lattice QCD data puts essential constraints on existence of hybrid and quark stars [2].

A hybrid model is put forward for describing relativistic heavy ion collisions [3]. The early interaction stage responsible for the entropy creation is calculated within the transport quark-qluon String Model resulting in the initial state. The passage to subsequent isentropic expansion proceeds with exact account for all conservation laws. Relativistic 3D hydrodynamics of state is applied to this expansion stage. The developed mixed phase EoS is considered as an input to this dynamical model describing the production and the time evolution of a thermalized medium created in heavy ion collisions. The model reproduces global characteristics of nuclear interactions in a large range of colliding energies.

In connection with the claim made at the Quark Matter 2005 Conference that the inmedium modification of  $\rho$ -meson properties, the so-called Brown-Rho scaling, is ruled out



Pиc. 2: Invariant mass distribution of dimuons from semi-central In+In collisions at the beam energy 158 A·GeV. Experimental points are the NA60 data (S. Damjanovic et al., 2005). The solid and dashed curves are calculated using the  $\rho$ -mass modification factors (1) and (2), respectively. The dash-dotted curve neglects any in-medium modification. The dotted line indicates the hydrodynamically calculated  $\rho$ -meson decay at the freeze-out.

by NA60 data, we considered the dimuon production from semi-central In+In collisions in a full dynamical model [4]. As it is shown in Fig. 2, if only a modification of the density-dependent  $\rho$ -mass

$$m_{\rho} \to m_{\rho}^*(x) = m_{\rho}(1 - 0.15 \cdot n_B(x)/n_0)$$
 (1)

is allowed, the maximum of dimuon invariant mass spectra is just slightly below the experimental one. The additional inclusion of the temperature-dependent modification factor

$$m_{\rho}^{*}(x) = m_{\rho} \left( 1 - 0.15 \cdot \frac{n_{B}(x)}{n_{0}} \right) \left( 1 - \left[ \frac{T(x)}{T_{c}} \right]^{2} \right)^{0.3} .$$
<sup>(2)</sup>

shifts the spectrum maximum towards lower invariant masses making calculation results incompatible with data. A further study is needed to disentangle the Brown-Rho dropping  $\rho$  mass scaling and strong broadening scenario.

- A. S. Khvorostukhin, V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev and K. Redlich, Eur. Phys. J. C 48, 531 (2006).
- [2] Yu. B. Ivanov, A. S. Khvorostukhin, E. E. Kolomeitsev, V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev and D. N. Voskresensky, Phys. Rev. C 72, 025804 (2005).
- [3] V. Toneev and V. Skokov, Acta Phys. Slovaca 56 503 (2006).
- [4] V. V. Skokov and V. D. Toneev, Phys. Rev. C 73, 021902 (2006).

### $\Theta^+$ FORMATION IN INCLUSIVE $\gamma D \to p K^- X$ REACTIONS

### A.I. Titov

The first evidence for the pentaquark hadron  $\Theta^+$ , discovered by the LEPS collaboration at SPring-8 [1], was subsequently confirmed in some other experiments. However, many other high-energy experiments failed to find the  $\Theta^+$  signal. These null results at high energies were not so much surprising because it is natural to expect a sizable suppression in the production of a more complicated five-quark system compared to the conventional three-quark hyperons. But the state of affairs became dramatic after the recent publication of the high statistics results of the CLAS collaboration [2]. This experiment is designed to search for the  $\Theta^+$  signal in  $\gamma p \to \bar{K}^0 n K^+$  and  $\gamma p \to \bar{K}^0 p K^0$  reactions. Within the experimental significance no  $\Theta^+$  signal was observed.

In Refs. [3,4], we analyzed a possible manifestation of the  $\Theta^+$  formation process in inclusive  $\gamma D \to pK^-X$  reactions. We found that if  $\Theta^+$  exists, then in the  $[\gamma D, pK^-]$  missing mass distribution there must be a distinct  $\Theta^+$  peak. Its strength depends on the  $\Theta^+$  spin and parity and has a maximum value for  $J_{\Theta}^P = 3/2^-$ . We found that at forward angles of the  $pK^-$  pair photoproduction the signal-to-noise ratio is most favorable.

We showed that the recent negative results of the CLAS collaboration could be explained by non-favorable experimental condition for  $\Theta^+$  formation processes at this experiment. The corresponding signal-to-noise ratio is small and the  $\Theta^+$  signal is comparable to the statistical fluctuations due to the experimental acceptance.



Рис. 1:  $\Theta^+$  formation in  $\gamma D$  reactions.

For illustration, in Fig. 1 we exhibit simultaneously the missing mass distribution in the inclusive  $\gamma D \rightarrow pK^-X$  reaction, averaged over the interval  $E_{\gamma} = 1.7 - 2.3$  GeV with the forward  $pK^-$  photoproduction angles and the  $nK^+$  invariant mass in the exclusive  $\gamma D \rightarrow pK^-NK^+$  reaction for the CLAS experimental conditions(right panel) together with the available experimental data [2].

In summary, it seems more reliable to detect the  $\Theta^+$  signal in the  $KN \to \Theta^+$  fusion reaction realized in associated  $\Lambda^*\Theta^+$  photoproduction, which may be seen in inclusive  $\gamma D \to p K^- X$  reaction for certain experimental conditions.

- [1] T. Nakano et al. [LEPS Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. **91**, 012002 (2003).
- [2] B. McKinnon et al. [The CLAS Collaboration], Phys. Rev. Lett. 96, 212001 (2006).

- [3] A.I. Titov, B. Kämpfer, S. Daté, Y. Ohashi, Phys. Rev. C 72, 035206 (2005).
- [4] A.I. Titov, B. Kämpfer, S. Daté, Y. Ohashi, Phys. Rev. C 74, 055206 (2006).

## List of publications MONOGRAPHS

- V. O. Nesterenko, P.-G. Reinhard, W. Kleinig, "Electron excitations in atomic clusters: beyond dipole plasmon", in "Atomic and Molecular Cluster Research", Y.L. Ping (ed.), Nova Science Publisher, New York, INBN:1-59454-864-1, 2006, pp. 277-306.
- 2. B. N. Zakhariev, V. M. Chabanov, "Submissive Quantum Mechanics. New Status of the Theory in Inverse Problem Approach", Nova Science Publishers, New York, 2007, to be published).

#### JOURNAL PUBLICATIONS

- 1. G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, A. S. Zubov, "Production of unknown transactinides in asymmetry-exit-channel quasifission reactions", *Phys. Rev. C* **71**, 034603 (4 pages) (2005).
- 2. G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, Z. Kanokov, V. V. Sargsyan, "Quantum non-Markovian stohastic equations", *Theor. Math. Phys.* 145, 1443-1456 (2005).
- 3. G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, "Transfer-type products accompanying cold fusion reactions", *Phys. Rev. C* 72, 064617 (4 pages) (2005).
- 4. G. N. Afanasiev, Yu. P. Stepanovsky, V. M. Shilov, "Shock waves in the Tamm problem and the possibility of their experimental observation", J. Math. Phys. 46, 022901 (2005).
- 5. G. N. Afanasiev, M. V. Lyubchenko, Yu. P. Stepanovsky, "Fine structure of the Vavilov-Cherenkov radiation", Proc. Roy. Soc. A: Math. Phys. Eng. Sci., 462, 689-699 (2006).
- 6. J. Ahrens, ..., S. Kamalov, et al., "Measurement of the helicity dependence for the  $\gamma p \rightarrow n\pi^+$  channel in the second resonance region," *Phys. Rev. C* 74, 045204 (pages 10) (2006).
- D. Almehed, R. G. Nazmitdinov, F. Dönau, "Vibrational excitations and tilted rotation in <sup>163</sup>Lu", *Physica Scripta* **T125**, 139–141 (2006).
- A. Andonov, A. Arbuzov, D. Bardin, S. Bondarenko, P. Christova, L. Kalinovskaya, G. Nanava, W. von Schlippe, "SANCscope - v.1.00", Comput. Phys. Commun. 174, 481-517 (2006).
- A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, W. Scheid, "Fine structures by deformation in the mass-energy distribution of fission fragments", *Heavy Ion Phys.* 22, 3-11 (2005).
- A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, "Bimodality and charge splitting in fission of actinides", *Eur. Phys.J. A* 26, 327–332 (2005).

- A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, W. Scheid, "Effects of nuclear deformation in dinuclear systems: Application to the fission process", *Yad. Fiz.* 69, 197–206 (2006).
- A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, S. N. Kuklin, and W. Scheid, "Ternary fission within statistical approach", *Eur. Phys. J. A* 30, 579–589 (2006).
- A. N. Antonov, D. N. Kadrev, M. K. Gaidarov, E. Moya de Guerra, P. Sarriguren, J. M. Udas, V. K. Lukyanov, E. V. Zemlyanaya, G. S. Krumova, "Charge and matter distributions and form factors of light, medium and heavy neutron-rich nuclei", *Phys. Rev. C* 72, 044307 (11 pages) (2005).
- A. Arbuzov, D. Bardin, S. Bondarenko, P. Christova, L. Kalinovskaya, G. Nanava, R. Sadykov, "One-loop corrections to the Drell-Yan process in SANC. I. The Charged current case", *Eur. Phys. J. C* 46, 407–412 (2006).
- 15. N. V. Ardeljan, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, K. V. Kosmachevskii, S. G. Moiseenko, "Magnetorotational supernovae", Mon. Not. R.A.S. **359**, 333-344 (2005).
- Yu. V. Artemova, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, I. V. Igumenschev, I. D. Novikov, "Black hole advective accretion disks with optical depth transition", Astrophys. J. 364, 968–977 (2006).
- 17. E. B. Balbutsev, P. Schuck, "The nuclear scissors mode by two approaches (Wigner function moments versus RPA)", Yad. Fiz., 68, 1497–1509 (2005).
- 18. E. B. Balbutsev, P. Schuck, "Wigner function moments versus RPA in a simple model", *Phys. At. Nucl.* **69**, 1985–2003 (2006).
- 19. E. B. Balbutsev, P. Schuck, "The nuclear scissors mode from various aspects", Ann. Phys. **322**, 489–529 (2007).
- 20. M. V. Barkov, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Interaction of a cosmological gamma-ray burst with a dense molecular cloud and the formation of jets", *Astron. Zh.* **82**, 29–40 (2005).
- 21. M. V. Barkov, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "The afterglow of a dense molecular cloud after the passage of a cosmological gamma-ray burst", Astron. Zh. 82, 685–697 (2005).
- 22. M. V. Barkov, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Infrared afterglow of the gamma ray burst GRB041219 as the result of reradiation from dust in a circumstellar cloud", *Astrophysics* 48, 369–373 (2005).
- 23. M. V. Barkov, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, A. I. Neishtadt, V. A. Belinski, "On chaotic behavior of gravitating stellar shells", *Chaos* 15, 0131104 (8 pages) (2005).
- 24. V. B. Belyaev, M. B. Miller, Ya. A. Sobolev, A. V. Sermyagin, I. V. Kuznetzov, E. Bialkovski, "Molecular-nuclear transition <sup>6</sup>LiD  $\rightarrow$ <sup>8</sup> Be<sup>\*</sup> search with a paired  $\Delta$ E-E telescope", *Few-body Systems* **38**, 103–107 (2006).

- 25. V. B. Belyaev, N. V. Shevchenko, A. Fix, W. Sandhas, "Binding of charmonium with two- and three-body nuclei", *Nucl. Phys. A* **780**, 100–111, 2006.
- 26. G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, O. Yu. Tsupko, "Approximate dynamics of dark matter ellipsoids", Mon. Not. R.A.S., **364**, 833–842 (2005).
- 27. G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Checking the variability of the gravitational constant with binary pulsars", Int. J. Mod. Phys. D 15, 1047-1051 (2006).
- G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Cosmic γ-ray bursts: Observations and modeling", Phys. Part. Nucl. 37, 1235-1284 (2006).
- S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, N. Hamamoto, A. Hosaka, Y. Manabe, H. Toki, "One- and two-rank separable kernels of the two-nucleon system in the Bethe-Salpeter approach", *Phys. Part. Nucl., Lett.* 2, No 5(128), 9-16 (2005).
- 30. S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, N. Hamamoto, A. Hosaka, Y. Manabe, H. Toki, "Elastic *eD*-scattering in the Bethe-Salpeter approach for the deuteron with the positive and negative-energy states", *Phys. Part. Nucl.*, Lett. 2, No (128), 17–24 (2005).
- S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, A. A. Goy, E. P. Rogochaya, "Exclusive electrodisintegration of the deuteron in the Bethe-Salpeter approach", *Phys. Part. Nucl.*, *Lett.* 2, No 5(128), 97–104 (2005).
- V. Bondarenko, J. Honzatko, I. Tommandl, T. von Egidy, H.-F. Wirth, A. M. Sukhovoj, L. A. Malov, L. I. Simonova et al., "Low-spin mixed particle-hole structures in <sup>185</sup>W", Nucl. Phys. A 762, 167–215 (2005).
- D. Bucurescu, Y. Eisermann, G. Graw, R. Hertenberger, H.-F. Wirth, V. Yu. Ponomarev, "Detailed spectroscopy of <sup>113</sup>Cd through transfer reactions", Nucl. Phys. A 756, 54-82 (2005).
- 34. D. Bucurescu, G. Graw, R. Hertenberger, H.-F. Wirth, N. Lo Iudice, A. V. Sushkov, N. Yu. Shirikova, Y. Sun,...R. F. Casten, D. A. Meyer, "High-resolution study of 0<sup>+</sup> and 2<sup>+</sup> excitations in <sup>168</sup>Er with the (p,t) reaction", Phys. Rev. C 73, 064309 (15 pages) (2006).
- 35. V. M. Chabanov, B. N. Zakhariev, "To the theory of waves in periodic structures in inverse problem approach", Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 18, 3941–3958 (2004).
- V. M. Chabanov, B. N. Zakhariev, "Theory of waves in periodic structures", *Phys. Part. Nucl.* 36, 1505–1548 (2005).
- 37. V. M. Chabanov, B. N. Zakhariev, "Unprecedented possibility of discrete scattering states and their control", Int. J. Mod. Phys. B 20, 4779-4784 (2006).
- 38. V. M. Chabanov, B. N. Zakhariev, "Surprises of quantum wave motion through potentials", *Concepts of Physics, Vol. III, pp. 169–178 (2006).*

- 39. C. Ciofi degli Atti, L. P. Kaptari, "Calculations of the exclusive processes <sup>2</sup>H(e, e'p)n, <sup>3</sup>He(e, e'p)<sup>2</sup>H and <sup>3</sup>He(e, e'p)(pn) within a generalized eikonal approximation", *Phys. Rev. C* 71, 024005 (19 pages) (2005).
- 40. C. Ciofi degli Atti, L. P. Kaptari, "Interpretation of the processes  ${}^{3}\text{He}(e, e'p){}^{2}\text{H}$  and  ${}^{3}\text{He}(e, e'p)(pn)$  at high missing momenta", *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **95**, 052502 (4 pages) (2005).
- 41. C. Ciofi degli Atti, L. P. Kaptari, H. Morita, "Hadron propagation in medium: The exclusive process A(e, e'p)B in few-nucleon systems", Nucl. Phys. A 782, 191–198 (2007).
- 42. B. V. Danilin, S. N. Ershov, and J. S. Vaagen, "Charge and matter radii of Borromean halo nuclei: The <sup>6</sup>He nucleus", *Phys. Rev. C* **71**, 057301 (3 pages) (2005).
- 43. B. V. Danilin, J. S. Vaagen, T. Rogde, S. N. Ershov, I. J. Thompson, M. V. Zhukov, "Three-body continuum energy correlations in Borromean halo nuclei. II", *Phys. Rev. C* 73, 054002 (16 pages) (2006).
- 44. S. M. Dorkin, L. P. Kaptari, B. Kämpfer, S. S. Semikh, "Relativistic approaches to investigations of few-nucleon systems", *Phys. Part. Nucl.* **37**, 867–898 (2006).
- 45. Alan Dzhioev, J. Wambach, A. I. Vdovin, Z. Aouissat, "Symmetry conserving 1/N expansion and extended Holstein-Primakoff mapping for anharmonic O(N+1) oscillator model", *Nucl. Phys. A* **748**, 551–572 (2005).
- 46. D. Elsner, A. Süle, P. Barneo,...S. Kamalov, F. H. Klein, M. Kohl,...Th. Walcher, and M. Weis, "Measurement of the LT-asymmetry in  $\pi^0$  electroproduction at the energy of the  $\Delta(1232)$ -resonance", Eur. Phys. J. A 27, 91–97 (2006).
- 47. J. Enders, M. Babilon, T. Hartmann, A. Heine, P. von Neumann-Cosel, V. Yu. Ponomarev, N. Ryezayeva, S. Volz, A. Zilges, "Electric dipole strength below the giant dipole resonance", Acta Phys. Pol. B 36, 1077-1087 (2005).
- J. Enders, O. Karg, P. von Neumann-Cosel, V. Yu. Ponomarev, "Do we understand the electric quadrupole strength distributions in magic nuclei ?", *Eur. J. Phys. A* 31, 15-22 (2007).
- 49. S. N. Ershov, B. V. Danilin, J. S. Vaagen, "Continuum spectroscopy of Borromean two-neutron halo nuclei", *Phys. Rev. C* 74, 014603 (10 pages) (2006).
- 50. G. Fazio, G. Giardina, G. Mandaglio, F. Hanappe, A. I. Muminov, A. K. Nasirov, W. Scheid, L. Stuttge, "Appearance of fast-fission and quasi-fission in reactions with massive nuclei", *Mod. Phys. Lett. A* 20, 391-405 (2005).
- 51. G. Fazio, G. Giardina, A. Lamberto, C. Sacca, R. Palamara, A. I. Muminov, A. K. Nasirov, K. V. Pavliy, F. Hanappe, T. Materna, L. Stuttge, "Effect of the entrance channel on the fission of the compound nucleus", J. Phys. Society of Japan 74, 307-316 (2005).
- 52. S. I. Fedotov, O. I. Kartavtsev, A. V. Malykh, "Effective three-body interactions in the  $\alpha$ -cluster model for the <sup>12</sup>C nucleus", *Eur. Phys. J. A* **26**, 201–207 (2005).

- 53. H. Fukuda, M. Katuya, E. O. Alt, A. V. Matveenko, "Gaussian quadrature rule for arbitrary weight function and interval", *Computer Phys. Comm.* **167**, 143–150, 2005.
- 54. F. A. Gareev, I. E. Zhidkova, "Nuclear reactions at low energies the future technologies of energy production", *Nauka i Promyshlennost' Rossii, No 1-2, 75 (2005).*
- 55. F. A. Gareev, I. E. Zhidkova, "Influence of excitation and ionization on rates of nuclear processes", *Applied Phys. No 3, 23 (2005)*.
- 56. G. Giardina, G. Fazio, F. Hanappe, G. Mandaglio, A. I. Muminov, A. K. Nasirov, C. Sacca, "The influence of the entrance channel on the dynamics of capture and fusion-fission of massive nuclei", *Recent Research Developments in Physics* 6, 195– 233 (2005).
- 57. K. A. Gridnev, S. Yu. Torilov, D. K. Gridnev, V. G. Kartavenko, W. Greiner, "Model of binding alpha-particles and applications to superheavy elements", *Int. J. Mod. Phys. E* 14, 635–644 (2005).
- K. A. Gridnev, D. K. Gridnev, V. G. Kartavenko, V. E. Mitroshin, V. N. Tarasov, D. V. Tarasov, W. Greiner, "About stability of nuclei with neutron excess", *Particles & Nuclei, Lett.* 2, №6(129), 40-47 (2005).
- K. Gridnev, D. Gridnev, V. Kartavenko, V. Mitroshin, V. Tarasov, D. Tarasov, W. Greiner, "Stability island near the neutron rich <sup>40</sup>O isotope", *Eur. Phys. J. A* 25, *Suppl.1*, 353–354 (2005).
- 60. K. A. Gridnev, S. Yu. Torilov, D. K. Gridnev, V. G. Kartavenko, W. Greiner, J. Hamilton, "Model of binding alpha-particles and applications to superheavy elements", *Eur. Phys. J. A* 25, *Suppl.1*, 609-610 (2005).
- K. A. Gridnev, D. K. Gridnev, V. G. Kartavenko, V. E. Mitroshin, V. N. Tarasov, D. V. Tarasov, W. Greiner, "Specific features in the nuclear drip line in the region of light nuclei", *Phys. At. Nucl.* 69, 1-5 (2006).
- 62. D. K. Gridnev, V. G. Kartavenko, V. E. Mitroshin, V. N. Tarasov, D. V. Tarasov, W. Greiner, "On stability of the neutron-rich oxygen isotopes", *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* E 15, 673-683 (2006).
- K. M. Hanna, K. V. Lukyanov, V. K. Lukyanov, Z. Metawei, B. Słowiński, E. V. Zemlyanaya, "Excitation of nuclear collective states by heavy ions within the model of semimicroscopic optical potential", *Phys. Part. Nucl., Lett.* 3, No 6 (135), 105-112 (2006).
- 64. R. Hazawa, ..., A. I. Titov et al, "Spectroscopy of low energy solar neutrinos by MOON: MO Observatory", Nucl. Phys. Proc. Suppl. 138, 102 (2005).
- 65. F. Hofmann, C. Baumer, A. M. van den Berg, D. Frekers, V. M. Hannen, M. N. Harakeh, M. A. de Huu, Y. Kalmykov, P. von Neumann-Cosel, V. Yu. Ponomarev, S. Rakers,...J. Wambach, H. J. Wortche, "Polarized proton scattering on <sup>58</sup>Ni

at small momentum transfer: A test of the microscopic optical model and effective interactions", *Phys. Lett. B* **612**, 165–172 (2005).

- 66. J. Honzátko, V. Bondarenko, I. Tomandl, T. von Egidy, H.-F. Wirth, D. Bucurescu, V. Yu. Ponomarev, N. Mărginean, R. Hertenberger, Y. Eisermann, G. Graw, L. Rubáček, "Nuclear structure of <sup>127</sup>Te studied with (n, γ) and (d, p) reactions and interpreted with IBFM and QPM", Nucl. Phys. A **756**, 249–307 (2005).
- 67. Yu. B. Ivanov, V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev, "Equation of state of deconfined matter within dynamical quasiparticle description", *Phys. Rev. D* **71**, 014005 (9 pages) (2005).
- 68. Yu. B. Ivanov, A. S. Khvorostukhin, E. E. Kolomeitsev, V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev, D. N. Voskresensky, "Lattice QCD constraints on hybrid and quark stars", *Phys. Rev.* C 72, 025804 (13 pages) (2005).
- Yu. B. Ivanov, V. N. Russkikh, V. D. Toneev, "Relativistic heavy-ion collisions within 3-fluid hydrodynamics: Hadronic scenario", *Phys. Rev. C* 73, 044904 (29 pages) (2006).
- 70. R. V. Jolos, P. von Brentano, N. Pietralla, "Generalized Grodzins relation", *Phys. Rev. C* **71**, 044305 (4 pages) (2005).
- 71. R. V. Jolos, P. von Brentano, A. Dewald, and N. Pietralla, "Spin dependence of intrinsic and transition quadrupole moments", *Phys. Rev. C* 72, 024310 (4 pages) (2005).
- 72. R. V. Jolos, N. Minkov, W. Scheid, "Inversion of parity splitting in alternating parity bands at high angular momenta", *Phys. Rev. C* 72, 064312 (7 pages) (2005).
- 73. R. V. Jolos, N. Yu. Shirikova and V. V. Voronov, "On neutron number dependence of B(E1;  $0_1^+ \rightarrow 1_1^-$ ) reduced transition probability", *Eur. Phys. J. A* **29**, 147–150 (2006).
- 74. R. V. Jolos, P. von Brentano, "Mass coefficient and Grodzins relation for the ground-state band and  $\gamma$  band", *Phys. Rev. C* 74, 064307 (5 pages) (2006).
- 75. Sh. A. Kalandarov, Z. Kanokov, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, "Transport coefficients of quantum system interacting with squeezed heat bath", *Phys. Rev. E* 74, 011118 (11 pages) (2006).
- 76. Y. Kalmykov, T. Adachi,... P. von Neumann-Cosel, V. Yu. Ponomarev, A. Richter, N. Sakamoto... T. Wakasa, J. Wambach, and M. Yosoi, "Fine structure of the Gamow-Teller resonance in <sup>90</sup>Nb and level density of 1<sup>+</sup> states", *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 96, 012502 (4 pages) (2006).
- 77. Z. Kanokov, Yu. V. Palchikov, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, W. Scheid, "Non-Markovian dynamics of quantum systems. I. Formalism, transport coefficients", *Phys. Rev. E* 71, 016121 (20 pages) (2005).

- 78. L. P. Kaptari, B. Kämpfer, "Combined analysis of near-threshold production of  $\omega$  and  $\phi$  mesons in nucleon-nucleon collisions within an effective meson-nucleon model", *Eur. Phys. J. A* **23**, 291–304 (2005).
- 79. L. P. Kaptari, B. Kämpfer, "Di-electron bremsstrahlung in intermediate-energy pn and Dp collisions", Nucl. Phys. A 764, 338–370 (2006).
- 80. L. P. Kaptari, B. Kämpfer, " $\omega \pi \gamma^*$  transition form factor in proton-proton collisions", *Eur. Phys. J. A* **31**, 233–243 (2007).
- 81. O. I. Kartavtsev, A. V. Malykh, "Universal low-energy properties of three twodimensional particles", *Phys. Rev. A* 74, 042506 (14 pages) (2006).
- 82. A. S. Khvorostukhin, V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev, K. Redlich, "Lattice QCD constraints on the nuclear equation of state", *Eur. Phys. J. C* 48, 531-543 (2006).
- 83. J. I. Kim, V. S. Melezhik, P. Schmelcher, "Suppression of quantum scattering in strongly confined systems", *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 97, 193203 (4 pages) 2006.
- 84. E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, W. Sandhas, "Scattering length for Helium atomdiatom collision", *Few-body Systems* **38**, 205–208 (2006).
- 85. E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, and W. Sandhas, "Scattering length for atomdiatom scattering at ultra-low energies", *Czech. J. Phys.* 56, *C287-C290 (2006)*.
- 86. V. Kostrykin, K. A. Makarov, A. K. Motovilov, "On the existence of solutions to the operator Riccati equation and the tan Θ theorem", Integral Equations and Operator Theory 51, 121–140 (2005).
- 87. V. Kostrykin, K. A. Makarov, and A. K. Motovilov, "Perturbation of spectra and spectral subspaces", *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **359**, 77–89 (2007).
- I. Kryukov, N. Pogorelov, U. Anzer, G. Börner, G. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Radiative effects in supersonic wind accretion onto gravitating objects", Astron. Astrophys. 441, 863–872 (2005).
- 89. S. N. Kuklin, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, "Spectroscopic factors and cluster decay half-lives of heavy nuclei", *Phys. Rev. C* **71**, 014301 (8 pages) (2005).
- 90. S. N. Kuklin, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko "Spectroscopic factors and penetrabilities of barriers in cluster radioactivity", Yad. Fiz. 68, 1443-1452 (2005).
- 91. V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, "Radiative muon capture on complex nuclei", *Izv.* RAN, ser. fiz., 69, 1069–1072 (2005).
- 92. V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, "Spin-isospin excitations and muon capture by nuclei", *BgNS Transactions* **10**, 241–250 (2005).
- 93. V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, "Structure of spin-isospin excitations and muon capture by atomic nuclei", *Phys. Part. Nucl.* **37**, 493–522 (2006).
- 94. J. Kvasil, R. G. Nazmitdinov, "Quantum phase transitions and backbending in eveneven N~90 nuclei" JETP Lett. 83, 187–191 (2006).

- 95. J. Kvasil, R. G. Nazmitdinov, "Microscopic analysis of shape-phase transitions in even-even N~90 rotating nuclei", *Phys. Rev. C* 73, 014312 (16 pages) (2006).
- 96. N. Lo Iudice, A. V. Sushkov, N. Yu. Shirikova, "Microscopic structure of low-lying 0<sup>+</sup> states in deformed nuclei", *Phys. Rev. C* 72, 034303 (8 pages) (2005).
- 97. N. Lo Iudice, A. V. Sushkov, N. Yu. Shirikova, "0<sup>+</sup> excitations in deformed nuclei", BgNS Transactions 10, 43–47 (2005).
- 98. R. V. E. Lovelace, M. M. Romanova, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Screening of the magnetic field of disk accreting stars", Astrophys. J. 625, 957–965 (2005).
- V. K. Lukyanov, E. V. Zemlyanaya, K. V. Lukyanov, "Nucleus-nucleus scattering in the high-energy approximation and optical folding potential", Yad. Fiz. 69, 240–254 (2006).
- 100. V. K. Lukyanov, "Microscopic approach to calculating cross sections and optical potentials for nucleus-nucleus interaction at intermediate energies", Yad. Fiz. 69, 1033-1044 (2006).
- 101. V. K. Lukyanov, Z. Metawei, E. V. Zemlyanaya, "High-energy approach for heavyion scattering with excitations of nuclear collective states", Yad. Fiz. 69, 1409–1415 (2006).
- 102. L. Majling, V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, "Alpha-particles accompanying the weak decay of <sup>10</sup><sub>A</sub>Be and <sup>10</sup><sub>A</sub>B hypernuclei", Yad. Fiz. 69, 810–827 (2006).
- 103. T. Mibe, ..., A. I. Titov, et al., "Near-threshold diffractive φ-meson photoproduction from the proton", *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **95**, 182001 (5 pages) (2005).
- 104. I. N. Mikhailov, T. I. Mikhailova, Ch. Briançon, and F. Hanappe, "Dynamical effects on the way to fusion of very heavy nuclei", *Eur. Phys. J. A* 28, 173–185 (2006).
- 105. N. Minkov, P. Yotov, R. V. Jolos, W. Scheid, "Intrinsic origin of the high order angular momentum terms in a nuclear rotation Hamiltonian", J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 34, 299-313 (2007).
- 106. S. G. Moiseenko, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, N. V. Ardeljan, "Magnetorotational core collapse model with jets", *Month. Not. Royal Astron. Soc.* **370**, 501–512 (2006).
- 107. A. K. Motovilov, "Explicit representations for the T-matrix on unphysical energy sheets and resonances in two-, three-body systems", *Few-body Systems* **38**, 115–120 (2006).
- 108. A. K. Motovilov, A. V. Selin, "Some sharp norm estimates in the subspace perturbation problem", Int. Eq. Oper. Th. 56, 511-542 (2006).
- 109. A. Nasirov, A. Fukushima, Y. Toyoshima, Y. Aritomo, A. Muminov, S. Kalandarov, R. Utamuratov, "The role of orientation of nucleus symmetry axis in fusion dynamics", Nucl. Phys. A 759, 342–369 (2005).

- 110. A. K. Nasirov, Y. Aritomo, A. Fukushima, M. Ohta, T. Wada, G. Giardina, G. Mandaglio, A. Muminov, R. K. Utamuratov, "Role of the nuclear shell structure and orientation angles of deformed reactants in complete fusion", *Int. J. Mod. Phys.* E 15, 311–318 (2006).
- 111. V. O. Nesterenko, P.-G. Reinhard, Th. Halfmann, and L. I. Pavlov, "Two-photon excitation of low-lying electronic quadrupole states in atomic clusters", *Phys. Rev.* A 73, 021201 (4 pages) (2006).
- 112. V. O. Nesterenko, P.-G. Reinhard, Th. Halfmann, E. Suraud, "Exploration of electronic quadrupole states in atomic clusters by two-photon processes", J. Phys. B: At. Mol. Opt. Phys., 39, 3905-3917 (2006).
- 113. V. O. Nesterenko, W. Kleinig, J. Kvasil, P. Vesely, P.-G. Reinhard, D. S. Dolci, "Self-consistent separable RPA for Skyrme forces: giant resonances in axial nuclei", *Phys. Rev. C* 74, 064306 (13 pages) (2006).
- 114. N. Paar, P. Papakonstantinou, V. Yu. Ponomarev, J. Wambach, "Low-energy dipole excitations towards the proton drip-line: doubly magic <sup>48</sup>Ni", *Phys. Lett. B* 624, 195-202 (2005).
- 115. Yu. V. Palchikov, Z. Kanokov, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, W. Scheid, "Non-Markovian dynamics of quantum systems.II. Decay rate, capture and pure states", *Phys. Rev. E* 71, 016122 (10 pages) (2005).
- 116. P. Papakonstantinou, E. Mavrommatis, J. Wambach, V. Yu. Ponomarev, "A microscopic investigation of the transition form factor in the region of collective multipole excitations of stable and unstable nuclei", J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 31, 185–197 (2005).
- 117. A. S. Parvan, T. S. Biró, "Extensive Rényi statistics from non-extensive entropy", *Phys. Lett.* A340, 375–387 (2005).
- 118. A. S. Parvan, "Microcanonical ensemble extensive thermodynamics of Tsallis statistics", *Phys. Lett. A* **350**, 331–338 (2006).
- 119. A. S. Parvan, "Extensive statistical mechanics based on nonadditive entropy: Canonical ensemble", *Phys. Lett. A* **360**, 26–34 (2006).
- 120. Yu. E. Penionzhkevich, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, "Towards neutron drip line via transfer-type reactions", *Phys. Lett. B* 621, 119–125 (2005).
- 121. Yu. E. Penionzhkevich, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, "Production of neutronrich Ca isotopes in transfer-type reactions", *Eur. Phys. J. A* 27, 187–190 (2006).
- 122. V. N. Pervushin, V. V. Skokov, A. V. Reichel, S. A. Smolyansky, A. V. Prozorkevich, "The kinetic description of vacuum particle creation in the oscillator representation", *Int. J. Mod. Phys. A* 20, 5689–5704 (2005).
- 123. V. N. Pervushin and V. V. Skokov, "Kinetic description of fermion production in the oscillator representation", Acta Phys. Polon. B 37, 2587–2600 (2006).

- 124. V. P. Pikul, U. Yu. Jovliev, Yu. N. Koblik, A. V. Khugaev, A. I. Muminov, A. K. Nasirov, K. V. Pavliy, B. S. Yuldashev, "Analysis of fragment mass distribution in asymmetric area at fission of <sup>235</sup>U induced by thermal neutrons", *Phys. At. Nucl.* 68, 177–183 (2005).
- 125. V. Yu. Ponomarev, A. I. Vdovin, "Test of the modified BCS model at finite temperature", *Phys. Rev. C* 72, 034309 (8 pages) (2005).
- 126. V. Yu. Ponomarev, A. I. Vdovin, "Reply to "Comment 'On the test of the modified BCS at finite temperature'", *Phys. Rev. C* 74, 059802 (2 pages) (2006).
- 127. V. V. Pupyshev, "Extrapolation of differential cross-section of triplet *pp*-scattering to low energies", *JETP Lett.* 82, 243–247 (2005).
- 128. V. V. Pupyshev, "Spectrum and collapse of a particle in the field proportional to the squared secant of distance", *Phys. Part. Nucl.*, Lett. **3**, No.2(131), 12-27, 2006.
- 129. V. V. Pupyshev, "Spectrum and collapse of a particle in a nonlocal field of centrifugal type", *Phys. Part. Nucl., Lett.* **3**, No.2(131), 28-42, 2006.
- 130. V. V. Pupyshev, "Spurious solutions of the three-dimensional Faddeev equations", *Theor. Math. Phys.* **142**, 1067–1080 (2006).
- 131. I. Pysmenetska, S. Walter, J. Enders, H. von Garrel, O. Karg, U. Kneissl, C. Kohstall, P. von Neumann-Cosel, H.H. Pitz, V.Yu. Ponomarev, M. Scheck, F. Stedile, S. Volz, "Two-phonon 1<sup>-</sup> state in <sup>112</sup>Sn observed in resonant photon scattering", *Phys. Rev. C* 73, 017302 (4 pages) (2006).
- 132. J. Révai, N. Shevchenko, "Capture of slow antiprotons by helium atoms", Eur. Phys. J. D 37, 83-92 (2006).
- 133. I. Sandalov and R. G. Nazmitdinov, "Nonlinear transport at the strong intra-dot Coulomb interaction", J. Phys.: Condensed Matter, 18, L55-L61 (2006).
- 134. V. V. Sargsyan, Z. Kanokov, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, "Quantum non-Markovian Langevin equations and transport coefficients", Yad. Fiz. 68, 2009–2021 (2005).
- 135. S. S. Semikh, S. M. Dorkin, M. Beyer, L. P. Kaptari, "On solving nonhomogeneous Bethe-Salpeter equations", Yad. Fiz. 68, 2022–2033 (2005).
- 136. A. P. Severyukhin, V. V. Voronov, Nguyen Van Giai, Ch. Stoyanov, "Nuclear structure calculations with a separable approximation for Skyrme interactions", *Romanian J. Phys.* 50, 391–400 (2005).
- 137. A. P. Severyukhin, V. V. Voronov, Ch. Stoyanov, Nguyen Van Giai, "Quasiparticlephonon model with a separable approximation for Skyrme forces", *BgNS Transactions* 10, 3–9 (2005).
- 138. A. P. Severyukhin, M. Bender, and P.-H. Heenen, "Beyond mean field study of excited states: Analysis within the Lipkin model", *Phys. Rev. C* 74, 024311 (7 pages) (2006).

- 139. E. I. Shahaliev, R. G. Nazmitdinov, A. A. Kuznetsov, M. K. Suleymanov, O. V. Teryaev, "Random matrix theory and analysis of nucleus-nucleus collision at high energies", *Phys. At. Nucl.* **69**, 142–146 (2006).
- 140. Shin Nan Yang, Guan-Yen Chen, Sabit S. Kamalov, L. Tiator, D. Drechsel, "S<sub>11</sub> resonances in a coupled-channel dynamical model", Int. J. Mod. Phys. A 20, 1656–1661 (2005).
- 141. T. M. Shneidman, R. V. Jolos, R. Krücken et al., "E2 transitions between positiveand negative-parity states of the ground-state alternating-parity bands", Eur. Phys. J. A 25, 387-396 (2005).
- 142. T. M. Shneidman, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, and R. V. Jolos, "Possible alternative parity bands in the heaviest nuclei", *Phys. Rev. C* 74, 034316 (9 pages) (2006).
- 143. V. V. Skokov, P. Levai, "Transverse momentum spectra of fermions produced in strong abelian fields", *Phys. Rev. D* 71, 094010 (6 pages) (2005).
- 144. V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev, "Semi-central In-In collisions and Brown-Rho scaling", *Phys. Rev. C* 73, 021902(R) (3 pages) (2006).
- 145. V. Skokov and V. Toneev, "Dilepton production from hydrodynamically expanding fireball", Acta Phys. Slovaca 56, 503–510 (2006).
- 146. V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev, "Hydrodynamics of an expanding fireball", *Phys. At. Nucl.* **70**, 109–117 (2007).
- 147. G. Smirnov, V. V. Burov, A. V. Molochkov, H. Toki, "Relating F2(P)(X), F2(N)(X) and F2(D)(X) using a relativistic description of the deuteron structure", *Nucl. Phys.* A **755**, 337–340 (2005).
- 148. S. A. Smolyansky, V. V. Skokov, A. V. Prozorkevich, "Kinetic theory of the quantum field systems with unstable vacuum", *Particles & Nuclei, Lett.* 2, No 5(128), 50–60 (2005).
- 149. Yu. G. Sobolev, A. Budzanowski,..., V. K. Lukyanov, S. M. Lukyanov,... V. Yu. Ugryumov, "Energy dependence of total reaction cross-section of <sup>4,6</sup>He, <sup>7</sup>Li + <sup>28</sup>Si interaction at E=5-50 MeV/nucleon", *Izv. RAN*, ser. fiz., 69, 1603–1607 (2005).
- 150. V. V. Sokolov, V. G. Kurt, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, Yu. N. Gnedin, Yu. V. Baryshev, T. A. Fatkhullin, V. S. Lebedev, "Collimated high-energy photons and other possible observational effects of the photon angular and spectral distribution in gamma-ray bursts sources", Bull. Spec. Astrophys. Obs., 59, 5-16 (2005).
- 151. V. V. Sokolov, G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, V. G. Kurt, et al., "Observational constraints on the angular and spectral distributions of photons in gamma-ray burst sources", *Astronomy Rep.*, **50**, 612–625 (2006).
- 152. A. A. Solnyshkin, V. P. Garistov, A. Georgieva, H. Ganev, V. V. Burov, "Analysis of new experimental data on the <sup>160</sup>Dy spectrum with the symplectic interacting vector boson model", *Phys. Rev. C* 72, 064321 (8 pages) (2005).

- 153. A. Storozhenko, P. Schuck, T. Suzuki, H. Yabu, J. Dukelsky, "Boson-fermion pairing in a boson-fermion environment", *Phys. Rev. A* **71**, 063617 (8 pages) (2005).
- 154. D. Tarpanov, Ch. Stoyanov, V. V. Voronov, "Dipole excitations in tin isotopes within finite range approximation of Skyrme-type interaction", *BgNS Transactions* **10**, *285–290 (2005)*.
- 155. A. Titov, B. Kämpfer, "Spin correlations in the reaction  $\pi^{\pm}\vec{D} \rightarrow \vec{\sigma}^{\pm}\Theta^{+}$  and the parity of  $\Theta^{+}$ ", *Phys. Rev. C* **71**, 062201(R) (4 pages) (2005).
- 156. A. I. Titov, H. Ejiri, H. Haberzettl, K. Nakayama, "Some aspects of  $\Theta^+$  parity determination in the reaction  $\gamma N \rightarrow \Theta^+ \bar{K} \rightarrow NK\bar{K}$ ", *Phys. Rev. C* **71**, 035203 (19 pages) (2005).
- 157. A. I. Titov, B. Kämpfer, S. Date, Y. Ohashi, "Coherent  $\Theta^+$  and  $\Lambda(1520)$  photoproduction off a deuteron", *Phys. Rev. C* **72**, 035206 (16 pages) (2005).
- 158. A. I. Titov, M. Fujiwara, K. Kawase, "Parity non-conservation in nuclear excitation by circularly polarized photon beam", J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. 32, 1097–1103 (2006).
- 159. A. I. Titov, B. Kämpfer, S. Daté, Y. Ohashi, " $\Theta$ + formation in inclusive  $\gamma D \rightarrow pK^-X$ ", Phys. Rev. C 74, 055206 (17 pages) (2006).
- 160. V. D. Toneev, A. S. Parvan, "Canonical strangeness and distillation effects in hadron production", J. Phys. G: Nucl. Part. Phys. **31**, 583-597 (2005).
- 161. V. D. Toneev, Yu. B. Ivanov, E. G. Nikonov, W. Nörenberg, V. N. Russkikh, "Three-fluid relativistic hydrodynamics for heavy-ion collisions", *Phys. Part. Nucl.*, Lett. 2, No 5 (128), 43–49 (2005).
- 162. M. Valín-Rodríguez and R. G. Nazmitdinov, "Model for spin-orbit effects in twodimensional semiconductors in magnetic fields", Phys. Rev. B 73, 235306 (7 pages) (2006).
- 163. A. I. Vdovin, "Fragmentation of giant dipole resonance at finite temperature", BgNS Transactions 10, 70-79 (2005).
- 164. E. V. Zemlyanaya, V. K. Lukyanov, K. V. Lukyanov, B. Słowinski, K. M. Hanna, "Restoration of optical nucleus-nucleus potential of scattering at intermediate energy", *Izv. RAN*, ser. fiz., 69, 1649–1654 (2005).
- 165. A. S. Zubov, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, W. Scheid, "Survival probabilities of superheavy nuclei based on recent predictions of nuclear properties", *Eur. Phys. J. A* 23, 249–256 (2005).

#### ARTICLES ACCEPTED FOR PUBLICATIONS

1. S. Albeverio, A. K. Motovilov, "Operator integrals with respect to a spectral measure and solutions to some operator equations", *Fundam. Appl. Math.* 

- 2. S. Albeverio, A. K. Motovilov, A. V. Selin, "The *a priori*  $\tan \theta$  theorem for eigenvectors", SIAM J. Matr. Anal. Appl.
- 3. I. C. Arsene, L. V. Bravina, W. Cassing, Yu. B. Ivanov, A. Larionov, J. Randrup, V. N. Russkikh, V. D. Toneev, G. Zeeb, D. Zschiesche, "Dynamical phase trajectories for relativistic nuclear collisions", accepted in Phys. Rev. C
- G. G. Chubarian, M. G. Itkis, V. S. Salamatin, V. V. Pashkevich, P. N. Nadtochy, G. D. Adeev, A. Ya. Rusanov, "Investigation of reaction <sup>208</sup>Pb(<sup>18</sup>O,f) II: Spins of the fission fragments and phenomenological analysis of their angular anisotropy", Yad. Fiz., 2007.
- 5. E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, W. Sandhas, "Ultracold scattering processes in three-atomic helium systems", *Nucl. Phys. A*
- 6. V. Kostrykin, K. A. Makarov, A. K. Motovilov, "Perturbation of spectra and spectral subspaces", *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*
- V. O. Nesterenko, W. Kleinig, J. Kvasil, P. Vesely, P.-G. Reinhard, "Giant dipole resonance in deformed nuclei: dependence on Skyrme forces", *Int. J. Mod. Phys. E*, 2007.

#### PREPRINTS AND DATA BASES

- G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, A. Zubov, "Possibilities of synthesis of superheavy nuclei in hot fusion reactions", in "Scientific papers of the Institute for Nuclear Research" No 2(15), INR, Kyiv, 2005, pp. 53-59.
- 2. A. Andonov, A. Arbuzov, S. Bondarenko, P. Christova, V. Kolesnikov, R. Sadykov, "QCD branch in SANC", arXiv: hep-ph/0610268, 2006.
- 3. E. Balbutsev, P. Schuck, M. Urban, X. Viñas, "Nuclear scissors mode with pairing", arXiv: nucl-th/0701039, 2007.
- 4. D. Bardin, S. Bondarenko, L. Kalinovskaya, G. Nanava, L. Rumyantsev, W. von Schlippe, "SANCnews: Sector ffbb", arXiv: hep-ph/0506120, 2005.
- 5. V. B. Belyaev, "Fifty years of few-body physics under the roof of BLTP", in "Bogoliubov Laboratory. 50 years", ed. D. V. Shirkov, Dubna, JINR, 2006-126, 2006, pp. 112-116.
- 6. V. B. Belyaev, M. Tater, E. Truhlik, "Influence of protons on the capture of electrons by the nuclei of <sup>7</sup>Be in the Sun", arXiv: astro-ph/0606679, 2006.
- 7. G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, S. G. Moiseenko, N. V. Ardeljan, "Core collapse supernovae: magnetorotational explosion", arXiv: astro-ph/0511173, 2005.
- S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, E. P. Rogochaya, A. A. Goy, "The relativistic impulse approximation for the exclusive electrodisintegration of the deuteron", arXiv: nucl-th/0612071, 2006.

- C. Buttar,... A. Arbuzov,... S. Bondarenko,..., "Les Houches physics at TeV colliders 2005, standard model and Higgs working group: Summary report", arXiv: hepph/0604120, 2006.
- 10. C. Ciofi degli Atti, L. P. Kaptari, H. Morita, "Hadron propagation in medium: the exclusive process A(e, e'p)B in few-nucleon systems", arXiv: nucl-th/0609029, 2006.
- S. M. Dorkin, S. S. Semikh, M. Beyer, L. P. Kaptari, "Peculiarities in the structure of two-particle states within the Bethe-Salpeter approach", arXiv: nucl-th/0611012, 2006.
- S. N. Ershov, "Halo nuclei structure and reactions", Lectures at the Helmholtz Intern. Summer School "Nuclear Theory and Astrophysical Applications" (Dubna, Russia, July 26 - August 4, 2005); http://theor.jinr.ru/ ntaa05/files/lectures/ershov.pdf.
- 13. F. A. Gareev, I. E. Zhidkova, "Enhancement mechanisms of low-energy nuclear reactions", arXiv: nucl-th/0505021, 2005.
- 14. F. A. Gareev, I. E. Zhidkova, "New mechanism of low-energy nuclear reactions using superlow energy external fields", arXiv: nucl-th/0511092, 2005.
- F. A. Gareev, I. E. Zhidkova, "Quantization of differences between atomic and nuclear rest masses and selforganization of atoms and nuclei", arXiv: nucl-th/0610002, 2006.
- 16. F. A. Gareev, I. E. Zhidkova, "Cooperative mechanisms of low energy nuclear reactions using superlow energy external fields", arXiv: nucl-th/0601015, 2006.
- 17. R. V. Jolos, "SU(6) symmetry in the nuclear structure theory", in "Bogoliubov Laboratory. 50 years", D. V. Shirkov (ed.), Dubna, JINR, 2006-126, 2006, pp. 117-121.
- 18. R. V. Jolos, V. V. Voronov, "Pseudospin symmetry and structure of nuclei with  $Z \ge 100$ ", arXiv: nucl-th/0610079, 2006.
- 19. L. P. Kaptari, B. Kämpfer, "Di-electrons from  $\eta$  meson Dalitz decay in proton-proton collisions", arXiv: nucl-th/0702033, 2007.
- 20. O. I. Kartavtsev, A. V. Malykh, "Low-energy three-body dynamics in binary quantum gases", arXiv: physics/0606013, 2006.
- 21. A. S. Khvorostukhin, V. D. Toneev, D. N. Voskresensky, "Equation of state for hot and dense matter:  $\sigma$   $\omega$   $\rho$  model with scaled hadron masses and couplings", arXiv: nucl-th/0612058, 2006.
- 22. J. Kvasil and R. G. Nazmitdinov, "Wobbling excitations in <sup>156</sup>Dy and <sup>162</sup>Yb", arXiv: nucl-th/0611059, 2006.
- K. V. Lukyanov, I. N. Kukhtina, V. K. Lukyanov, Yu. E. Penionzhkevich, Yu. G. Sobolev, E. V. Zemlyanaya, "Microscopic model analysis of the <sup>6</sup>He,<sup>6</sup>Li+<sup>28</sup>Si total reaction cross sections at the energy range 5-50·A Mev", arXiv: nucl-th/0610119, 2006; Preprint JINR, P4-2006-154, Dubna, 2006.

- 24. V. K. Lukyanov, "Applications of the symmetrized Fermi function for studying nucleus-nucleus scattering", in "Advances in Nuclear Physics and Related Areas" (to honour Professor M.E. Grypeos), G.A. Lalazissis, S.E. Massen (eds.), ISBN 960-243-613-1, Art of Text, Publishing & Grafic Arts Co, Thessaloniki, Greece, 2005, pp.225-240.
- 25. V. S. Melezhik, "Quantum scattering problem without partial-wave analysis", arXiv: physics/0512019, 2005.
- 26. H. Nakamura, ... A. I. Titov, et al., "Multi-layer scintillation detector for the MOON double beta decay experiment: Scintillation photon responses studied by a prototype detector MOON-1", arXiv: nucl-ex/0609008, 2006.
- V. O. Nesterenko, W. Kleinig, J. Kvasil, P. Vesely, P.-G. Reinhard, "Giant dipole resonance in deformed nuclei: dependence on Skyrme forces", arXiv: nucl-th/0610040, 2006.
- 28. A. S. Parvan and T. S. Biro, "Thermodynamical limit in non-extensive and Renyi statistics", arXiv: cond-mat/0607190, 2006.
- 29. V. V. Pupyshev, "Coulomb-multipole analogues of Mott effect", Preprint JINR, P4-2005-128, Dubna, 2005.
- 30. A. P. Severyukhin, M. Bender, H. Flocard, P.-H. Heenen, "Large-amplitude  $Q_n$ - $Q_p$  collectivity in the neutron-rich oxygen isotope <sup>20</sup>O", arXiv: nucl-th/0701033, 2007.
- 31. A. N. Sissakian, A. S. Sorin, V. D. Toneev, "QCD Matter: A search for a mixed quark-hadron phase", arXiv: nucl-th/0608032, 2006.
- 32. A. N. Sissakian, A. S. Sorin, M. K. Suleymanov, V. D. Toneev, G. M. Zinovjev, "Towards searching for a mixed phase of strongly interacting QCD matter at the JINR Nuclotron", in "Bogoliubov Laboratory. 50 years", D. V. Shirkov (ed.), Dubna, JINR, 2006-126, 2006, pp. 73-95.
- 33. V. V. Skokov, V. D. Toneev, "NA60 and BR scaling", arXiv: nucl-th/0509085, 2005.
- Lothar Tiator, Sabit Kamalov, "MAID analysis techniques", arXiv: nucl-th/0603012, 2006.
- 35. V. D. Toneev, "Relativistic heavy ion collisions", Lectures given at the Helmholz Intern. Summer School "Nuclear Theory and Astrophysical Applications" (Dubna, Russia, July 26-August 4, 2005); http://theor.jinr.ru/ ntaa05/files/lectures/toneev.pdf.
- 36. V. D. Toneev, "HIC in relativistic 3-fluid hydrodynamic", talk given at the CBM Collaboration Meeting (GSI, Darmshtadt, March 9–12, 2005); http://www.gsi.de/ documents/DOC-2005-Mar-87-1.pdf.
- 37. V. D. Toneev, "Dynamics of pion annihilation into 2 gamma in heavy ion collisions and a background estimate", talk given at the round table discussion "Searching for the mixed phase of strongly interacting matter at the JINR Nuclotron" (Dubna, July 7-9, 2005); http://theor.jinr.ru/meetings/2005/roundtable/talks/Toneev.pdf

- A. I. Vdovin, and V. V. Voronov, "Quasiparticle-phonon nuclear model at the century turning decade" in "Bogoliubov Laboratory. 50 years", D. V. Shirkov (ed.), Dubna, JINR, 2006-126, 2006, pp. 122-153.
- R. K. Utamuratov, A. I. Muminov, A. K. Nasirov, "Propriety of approximation for calculations of nuclear matrix elements by Woods-Saxon wave functions", *Preprint* JINR, E7-2005-157, JINR, Dubna, 2005.
- 40. A. I. Vdovin, A. N. Storozhenko, "Temperature dependence of giant dipole resonance width", in "Scientific papers of the Institute for Nuclear Research" No 2(15), INR, Kyiv, 2005, pp.37-45.
- 41. S. N. Yang, S. S. Kamalov, "Dynamical study of  $\gamma^* N \leftrightarrow \Delta$  transition with  $N(e, e'p)\pi$ ", arXiv: hep-ph/0509318, 2005.

#### CONFERENCE CONTRIBUTIONS

- G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, W. Scheid, A. Zubov, "Isotopic trends in production of superheavies", in the Proceedings of the Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclear Systems (Debrecen, Hungary, 20-25 June 2005), AIP Conference Proceedings, v. 802, AIP, New York, 2005, pp.77-82.
- G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. N. Kuklin, "Cluster features of normal-, super- and hyperdeformed nuclei", in the Proceedings of the Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclear Systems (Debrecen, Hungary, 20-25 June 2005), AIP Conference Proceedings, v. 802, AIP, New York, 2005, pp. 169-174.
- G. G. Adamian, A. V. Andreev, N. V. Antonenko, R. V. Jolos, S. P. Ivanova, Yu. V. Palchikov, W. Scheid, T. M. Shneidman, "Dynamics of mass asymmetry in dinuclear systems", in the Proceedings of the Carpathian Summer School of Physics "Exotic Nuclei and Nuclear/Particle Astrophysics", (Mamaia-Constanta, Romania, June 13-24, 2005), World Scientific, Singapor, 2006, pp. 160-168.
- G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, R. V. Jolos, Yu. V. Palchikov, W. Scheid, T. M. Shneidman, "Rotation modes in the dinuclear model", in the Proceedings of the Twenty Fifth Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory, (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 26 July 1, 2006), S. Dimitrova (ed.), DioMira, Sofia, 2006, pp. 195-204.
- 5. G.N. Afanasiev, "Simplest sources of electromagnetic fields as a tool for testing the reciprocity-like theorems", in the Proceedings of the One Day Workshop on Supertoroidal Electrodynamics" (Southampton, United Kingdom, November 2004) A.Boardman, N. Zheludev (eds.), University of Southampton, 2005, pp. 539-559.
- A. Algora, J. Cseh, J. Darai, P. O. Hess, N. V. Antonenko, R. V. Jolos, W. Scheid, "Clusterization and deformation in heavy nuclei", in the Proceedings of the Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclear Systems (Debrecen, Hungary, 20-25 June 2005), AIP Conference Proceedings, v. 802, AIP, New York, 2005, pp.52-56.
- A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, S. N. Kuklin, W. Scheid, "Cluster aspects of binary and ternary fission", in the Proceedings of the XXIV Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 20-25, 2005), S. Dimitrova (ed.), Heron Press Ltd., Sofia, 2005, pp. 296-311.
- A. V. Andreev, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, S. N. Kuklin, W. Scheid, "Cluster aspects of binary and ternary fission", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Nuclear Structure and Related Topics" (Dubna, Russia, June 13-17, 2006).
- A. N. Antonov, D. N. Kadrev, M. K. Gaidarov, E. Moya de Guerra, P. Sarriguren, J. M. Udias, V. K. Lukyanov, E. V. Zemlyanaya, G. Z. Krumova, "Charge and matter distributions and form factors of light, medium and heavy neutron-rich nuclei", in the Proceedings of the XXIV Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 20-25, 2005), S. Dimitrova (ed.), Heron Press Ltd., Sofia, 2005, pp. 106-126.

- E. B. Balbutsev, P. Schuck, "Wigner function moments versus RPA on an example of the scissors mode" in "Nuclear Theory'24", the Proceedings of the XXIV Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 20-25, 2005), S. Dimitrova (ed.), Heron Press Ltd., Sofia, 2005, pp. 147-161.
- 11. V. B. Belyaev, A. F. Oskin, W. Sandhas, "Binding of  $\eta_c$  mesons with light nuclei", in the Proceedings of the 19th European Conference on Few-Body Problems in Physics, AIP Conf. Proc. **768**, 268 (2005).
- V. B. Belyaev, S. B. Levin, S. L. Yakovlev, "The continuum spectrum wave function of two heavy and one light charged particles", in the Proceedings of 19th European Conference on Few-Body Problems in Physics, AIP Conf. Proc. 768, 427-429 (2005).
- 13. V. B. Belyaev, "Finite-rank approximation approach to few-body problems", Lectures given at the Intern. Summer School on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Dubna, Russia, August 7–17, 2006); http://theor.jinr.ru/meetings/2006/fbs2006/program.htm
- 14. V. B. Belyaev, I. I. Shlyk, "New possible approach to the treatment of three charged particles", to appear in the Proceedings of the 18th Intern. Conference on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Santos, Brazil, August 21-26, 2006).
- 15. G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Magnetorotational core-collapse supernovae: explosion and jet formation", to appear in the Proceedings of the Vulcano Workshop 2006 "Frontier Objects in Astrophysics and Particle Physics" (Vulcano, Italy, May 22-27, 2006).
- 16. G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Recycled binary pulsars: the best laboratory for fundamental physics", to appear in the Proceedings of the Vulcano Workshop 2006 "Frontier Objects in Astrophysics and Particle Physics" (Vulcano, Italy, May 22-27, 2006).
- 17. G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Recycled binary pulsars a most precise laboratory of fundamental physics", to appear in the Proceedings of the Gamow Summer Astronomical School "Astronomy on the border of sciences — astrophysics, cosmology, radioastronomy, astrobiology" (Odessa, Ukraine, August 1-5, 2006).
- G. S. Bisnovatyi-Kogan, "Binary recycled pulsars, as a most precise physical laboratory", to appear in the Proceedings of the Fourth Scientific Conference in honor of Bohdan Babiy (1936-1993) "Selected Issues of Astronomy and Astrophysics" (Lviv, Ukraine, October 19-21, 2006).
- S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, N. Hamamoto, Y. Manabe, H. Toki, "Mesonic exchange currents in the deuteron. The bridge from nonrelativistic to relativistic nuclear physics", in the Proceedings of the XVII Intern. Baldin Seminar on High Energy Physics Problems "Relativistic Nuclear Physics and QCD" (Dubna, Russia, September 27 - October 2, 2004) A.N. Sissakian, V.V. Burov, A.I. Malakhov (eds.), Dubna, JINR, E1,2-2005-103, v.I, pp.32-41, 2005.
- 20. S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, A. A. Goy, and E. P. Rogochaya, "On the electrodisintegration of the deuteron in the Bethe-Salpeter formalism", in the Proceedings of 9th Intern. Workshop "Relativistic Nuclear Physics: from Hundreds of

MeV to TeV" (Modra Harmonia, Slovakia, May 22-27, 2006) JINR, Dubna, 2006, pp. 76–90.

- 21. S. G. Bondarenko, V. V. Burov, E. P. Rogochaya, A. A. Goy, "Relativistic contribution of the final-state interaction to the exclusive electrodisintegration of the deuteron", to appear in the Proceedings of the XVIII Intern. Baldin Seminar on High Energy Physics Problems "Relativistic Nuclear Physics and Quantum Chromodynamics" (Dubna, Russia, September 25-30, 2006).
- 22. D. Bucurescu, R. F. Casten, G. Graw, J. Jolie, N. Braun, P. von Brentano, T. Faestermann, S. Heinze, R. Hertenberger, N. Lo Iudice, R. Krücken, M. Mahgoub, D. A. Meyer, O. Möller, D. Mücher, C. Scholl, N. Yu. Shirikova, Y. Sun, A. V. Sushkov, and H.-F. Wirth, "High-resolution study of 0<sup>+</sup> and 2<sup>+</sup> excitations in <sup>168</sup>Er with the (p,t) reaction", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Nuclear Structure and Related Topics" (Dubna, Russia, June 13-17, 2006).
- 23. C. Ciofi degli Atti, L. P. Kaptari, H. Morita, "A study of final state interaction in the <sup>3</sup>He(e, e'p)<sup>2</sup>H(n, p) and <sup>4</sup>He(e, e'p)<sup>3</sup>H reaction", in the Proceedings of the Twenty Fifth Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory, (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 26 -July 1, 2006), S. Dimitrova (ed.), DioMira, Sofia, 2006, pp. 277-286.
- J. Cseh, A. Algora, J. Darai, P. O. Hess, N. V. Antonenko, R. V. Jolos, W. Scheid, "Deformation and clusterization in atomic nuclei", in the Proceedings of the Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclear Systems (Debrecen, Hungary, 20-25 June 2005), AIP Conference Proceedings, v. 802, AIP, New York, 2005, pp.48-51.
- 25. D. Dimitrovski, J. Pop-Jordanov, E. A. Solov'ev, "Quantum transitions in neuronal induced by EEG signal as an information transfer mechanism", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Course and Conference "Mind and Brain V: Physics and the Brain" (Dubrovnik, Croatia, September 17-23, 2006).
- 26. S. M. Dorkin, S. S. Semikh, M. Beyer, L. P. Kaptari, "Peculiarities in the structure of two-particle states within the Bethe-Salpeter approach", to appear in the Proceedings of the XVIII Intern. Baldin Seminar on High Energy Physics Problems "Relativistic Nuclear Physics and Quantum Chromodynamics" (Dubna, Russia, September 25-30, 2006).
- 27. A.A. Dzhioev, "Symmetry conserving extended Holstein-Promakoff boson mapping", in the Proceedings of the Ninth Scientific Conference of Young Scientists and Specialists (Dubna, January 31-February 6, 2005), VNIIgeosystem, Moscow, 2005, pp. 239-242.
- M. Fujiwara, K. Kawase, A. I. Titov, "Parity non-conservation measurements with polarized photons at SPring-8", in the Proceedings of the Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclear Systems ENS'05 (Debrecen, Hungary, June 20-25, 2005) AIP Conf. Proc. 802, 246-249 (2006).
- F. A. Gareev, I. E. Zhidkova, Yu. I. Ratis, "Enhancement mechanisms of low-energy nuclear reactions", in the Proceedings of the 7th AFOSR Workshop "Isomers and Quantum Nucleonics" (Dubna, Russia, June 26 - July 1, 2005), S.A. Karamian, J.J. Carroll, E.A. Cherepanov (eds.), JINR, Dubna, E15,18-2006-24, 2006, pp. 130-144.

- 30. K. A. Gridnev, S. Yu. Torilov, V. G. Kartavenko, D. K. Gridnev, J. Hamilton and W. Greiner, "Nuclear model of binding alpha-particles", in the Proceedings of the Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclei (Peterhof, Russia, July 5-12, 2004) Yu. E. Penionzhkevich, E. A. Cherepanov (eds.), World Scientific, Singapor, 2006, pp. 485-488.
- R. V. Jolos, N. Yu. Shirikova, V. V. Voronov, "Q-phonon approach for low-lying 1<sup>-</sup> two-phonon states in spherical nuclei", in the Proceedings of the Carpatian Summer School of Physics "Exotic Nuclei and Nuclear/Particle Astrophysics", (Mamaia-Constanta, Romania, June 13-24, 2005), World Scientific, Singapor, 2006, pp. 75– 82.
- K. M. Hanna, K. V. Lukyanov, V. K. Lukyanov, B. Słowiński, E. V. Zemlyanaya, "Model for restoration of heavy-ion potentials at intermediate energies" in the Proceedings of the XVII Intern. Baldin Seminar on High Energy Physics Problems "Relativistic Nuclear Physics and QCD" (Dubna, Russia, September 27 - October 2, 2004) A. N. Sissakian, V. V. Burov, A. I. Malakhov (eds.), Dubna, JINR, E1,2– 2005–103, v.I, pp. 269–279, 2005.
- 33. V. G. Kartavenko, T. Burvenich, K. A. Gridnev, Yu. E. Penionzhkevich and W. Greiner, "On stability of the neutron rich light nuclei", to appear in the Proceedings of Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclei "EXON - 2006" (Khanty-Mansiysk, Russia, July 17-22, 2006).
- 34. M. Khankhasayev, R. Herndon, J. Moerlins and Chr. Teaf, "Overview of NATO/CCMS pilot study on environmental decision-making for sustainable development in Central Asia", in the Proceedings "Environmental Security and Sustainable Land Use: With Special Reference to Central Asia", NATO Security through Science Series, Sub-Series C: Environmental Security, H. Vogtmann, N. Dobretsov (eds.), Springer, v. 7, pp. 65-84, 2006.
- 35. M. Khankhasayev, S. Leitman, "Main results, conclusions & recommendations from the NATO/CCMS Pilot Study Meeting on Transboundary Water Management Issues in the United States & Central Asia (Tallahassee, Florida, USA, March 2005). Central Asian Pilot Study: A Five Year Historical Perspective", to appear in the Proceedings of the NATO Advanced Research Workshop on Facilitating Regional Security through Improved Management of Transboundary Water Basin Resources (Almaty, Kazakhstan, June 22–23, 2006).
- 36. E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, W. Sandhas, "Recent scattering results for helium three-atom systems", in the Proceedings of the 19th European Conference on Few-Body Problems in Physics, AIP Conf. Proc. 768, 347 (2005).
- 37. E. A. Kolganova, A. K. Motovilov, and W. Sandhas, "Ultracold scattering process in three-atomic helium systems", to appear in the Proceedings of the 18th Intern. Conference on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Santos, Brazil, August 21–26, 2006).
- 38. V. A. Kuz'min, T. V. Tetereva, "Ordinary and radiative muon capture in complex nuclei", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Nuclear Structure and Related Topics" (Dubna, Russia, June 13-17, 2006).

- 39. J. Kvasil, N. Lo Iudice, R.G. Nazmitdinov, A. Porrino, and F. Knapp, "Collective modes in fast rotating nuclei", in the Proceedings of the 8th Intern. Spring Seminar on Nuclear Physics "Key Topics in Nuclear Structure" (Paestum, Italy, May 23-27, 2004)A. Covello (ed.), World Scientific, Singapore, 2005, pp. 539-548.
- 40. J. Kvasil, R. G. Nazmitdinov, A. S. Sitdikov, P. Vesely, "Octupole excitations at high spins in A ~ 160 nuclei" to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Nuclear Structure and Related Topics" (Dubna, Russia, June 13-17, 2006).
- N. Lo Iudice, A.V. Sushkov, N.Yu. Shirikova, "Microscopic study of low-lying 0<sup>+</sup> states in deformed nuclei", in the Proceedings of 8th Intern. Spring Seminar on Nuclear Physics "Key Topics in Nuclear Structure" (Paestum, Italy, May 23-27, 2004) A. Covello (ed.), World Scientific, Singapore, 2005, pp. 503-512.
- N. Lo Iudice, A. V. Sushkov, N. Yu. Shirikova, "Pairing versus quadrupole collectivity of low-lying 0<sup>+</sup> states in deformed nuclei", in the Proceedings of the 12th Intern. Symposium on Capture Gamma-Ray Spectroscopy and Related Topics (Notre Dame, Indiana, USA, September 4-9, 2005) AIP Conf. Proc. 819, pp. 239-243, 2006.
- 43. N. Lo Iudice, A. V. Sushkov, N. Yu. Shirikova, "Description of low-lying 0<sup>+</sup> states in deformed nuclei", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Current Problems in Nuclear Physics and Atomic Energy" (Kiev, Ukraine, May 29-June 03, 2006).
- 44. K. V. Lukyanov, I. N. Kukhtina, V. K. Lukyanov, Yu. E. Penionzhkevich, Yu. G. Sobolev, E. V. Zemlyanaya, "Microscopical model analysis of the <sup>4,6</sup>He, <sup>6,7</sup>Li + <sup>28</sup>Si total reaction cross sections at the energy range 5-50 A MeV", to appear in the Proceedings of Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclei "EXON - 2006" (Khanty-Mansiysk, Russia, July 17-22, 2006).
- 45. A. V. Matveenko, H. Fukuda, E. O. Alt, "Low energy  $\bar{p}+H$  collision in hyperspheroidal Coordinates", in the Proceedings of the Eighth Intern. Conference on Low Energy Antiproton Physics, AIP Conf. Proc. **796**, 330–333 (2005).
- 46. S. Mishev, V. V. Voronov, "Ground state correlations and structure of odd spherical nuclei", accepted to in the Proceedings of the Twenty Fifth Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory, (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 26 July 1, 2006), S. Dimitrova (ed.), DioMira, Sofia, 2006, pp. 113-122 also arXiv: nucl-th/0610123, 2006.
- 47. A. K. Motovilov, "Four-body differential Yakubovsky equations", Lectures given at the Intern. Summer School on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Dubna, Russia, August 7-17, 2006); http://theor.jinr.ru/meetings/2006/fbs2006/program.htm
- 48. A. K. Motovilov, "Three-body resonances", Lectures given at the Intern. Summer School on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Dubna, Russia, August 7–17, 2006); http://theor.jinr.ru/meetings/2006/fbs2006/program.htm
- 49. A. K. Motovilov and A. V. Selin, "Some sharp norm estimates in the subspace perturbation problem", to appear in the Proceedings of the 8th Workshop on Numerical Ranges and Numerical Radii (Bremen, Germany, 15-17 July 15-17, 2006).

50. R. G. Nazmitdinov, "Two-electron quantum dots in a magnetic field: Classical and quantum dynamics", Lectures given at the Intern. Summer School on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Dubna, Russia, August 7–17, 2006);

http://theor.jinr.ru/meetings/2006/fbs2006/program.htm

- V. O. Nesterenko, J. Kvasil and P.-G. Reinhard, "Practicable factorized TDLDA for arbitrary density- and current-dependent functionals", in "Recent Advances in the Theory of Chemical and Physical Systems", J.-P. Julien, J. Maruani, D. Mayou, S. Wilson, G. Delgado-Barrio (eds.) (series Progress in Theoretical Chemistry and Physics), vol. 15, pp. 127–150, Springer, 2006. The Proceedings of "The Ninth Eur. Workshop on Quantum Systems in Chemistry and Physics" (QSCP-9) (Les Houches, France, 2004).
- 52. R. L. Pavlov, J. Maruani, L. M. Mihailov, L. I. Pavlov, Ch. J. Velchev, M. Dimitrova-Ivanovich, V. O. Nesternko, "Effects induced by nuclear motion on the ground state energies of Helium and 1s-Helium isoelectronic series from Lithium to Xenon", in the Proceedings of the Twenty Fifth Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory, (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 26 - July 1, 2006), S. Dimitrova (ed.), DioMira, Sofia, 2006, pp. 335-349.
- 53. R. Sadykov, A. Arbuzov, D. Bardin, S. Bondarenko, P. Christova, L. Kalinovskaya, G. Nanava, "On the electroweak corrections to  $t \rightarrow bl^+\nu_l(\gamma)$  decay", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Workshop on Top Quark Physics (Coimbra, Portugal, January 12-15, 2006).
- 54. S. S. Semikh, S. M. Dorkin, M. Beyer, L. P. Kaptari, "Solving the inhomogeneous Bethe-Salpeter equation", the Proceedings of XVII Intern. Baldin Seminar on High Energy Physics Problems "Relativistic Nuclear Physics and Quantum Chromodynamics", (Dubna, Russia, September 27 - October 2, 2004) A. N. Sissakian, V. V. Burov, A. I. Malakhov (eds.), Dubna, JINR, E1,2-2005-103, v.II, pp.75-81, 2005.
- 55. S. S. Semikh, S. M. Dorkin, M. Beyer, L. P. Kaptari, "Advanced method of solving homogeneous and inhomogeneous Bethe-Salpeter equations", in the Proceedings of the 8th Intern. Workshop "Relativistic Nuclear Physics: from hundreds of MeV to TeV" (Dubna, Russia, May 23-28, 2005), JINR, E1,2-2006-30, Dubna, 2006 pp.177-182.
- 56. S. S. Semikh, S. M. Dorkin, M. Beyer, L. P. Kaptari, "New method of finding solutions for the inhomogeneous Bethe-Salpeter equations", in the Proceedings of the Ninth Scientific Conference of Young Scientists and Specialists (Dubna, January 31 February 6, 2005), VNIIgeosystem, Moscow, 2005, pp. 264-267.
- 57. S. S. Semikh, S. M. Dorkin, M. Beyer, L. P. Kaptari, "On the stability of bound states in the Bethe-Salpeter approach", to appear in the Proceedings of Tenth Scientific Conference of Young Scientists and Specialists (Dubna, Russia, February 6-11, 2006).
- 58. A. P. Severyukhin, V. V. Voronov and Nguyen Van Giai, "Finite rank approximation for nuclear structure calculations with Skyrme interactions", in the Proceedings of

8th Intern. Spring Seminar on Nuclear Physics "Key Topics in Nuclear Structure" (Paestum, Italy, May 23-27, 2004) A. Covello (ed.), World Scientific, Singapore, 2005, pp. 521–530.

- 59. A. P. Severyukhin, V. V. Voronov, Nguyen Van Giai, "Vibrational excitations in nuclei and separabelized Skyrme interactions", in the Proceedings of IX Scientific Conference for Young Scientists and Specialists (Dubna, January 31-February 6, 2005), VNIIgeosystem, Moscow, 2005, pp. 260-263.
- 60. A. P. Severyukhin, M. Bender, H. Flocard, P.H. Heenen, "Large amplitude Q<sub>n</sub> Q<sub>p</sub> collectivity in neutron rich Oxygen isotopes", in the Proceedings of Intern. Conference on Frontiers in Nuclear Structure, Astrophysics and Reactions, (Aegean island of Kos, Greece, September 12-17, 2005) AIP Conf. Proceedings 831, pp. 100-107, 2006.
- 61. A. P. Severyukhin, M. Bender, H. Flocard, P.-H. Heenen, "On the  $Q_n$ - $Q_p$  deformation energy surfaces of neutron-rich oxygen isotopes", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Nuclear Structure and Related Topics" (Dubna, Russia, June 13-17, 2006).
- 62. A. P. Severyukhin, M. Bender, H. Flocard, P.-H. Heenen, "Generator coordinate  $Q_n Q_p$  study of low-lying collective states in neutron-rich oxygen isotopes", to appear in the Proceedings of Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclei "EXON 2006" (Khanty-Mansiysk, Russia, July 17-22, 2006).
- 63. T. M. Shneidman, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, and R. V. Jolos, "Cluster approach to the structure of nuclei with Z≥96", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Nuclear Structure and Related Topics" (Dubna, Russia, June 13-17, 2006).
- 64. A. N. Sissakian, A. S. Sorin, M. K. Suleymanov, V. D. Toneev, G. M. Zinovjev, "Properties of strongly interacting matter and search for a mixed phase at the JINR Nuclotron", to appear in the Proceedings of the VI Intern. Workshop on Very High Multiplicity Physics (Dubna, Russia, April 16-17, 2005).
- 65. A. N. Sissakian, A. S. Sorin and V. D. Toneev, "QCD matter: A search for a mixed quark-hadron phase", to appear in the Proceedings of the XXXIII Intern. Conference on High Energy Physics (Moscow, Russia, July 26 August 2, 2006).
- 66. A. N. Sissakian, A. S. Sorin, and V. D. Toneev, "QCD matter: A search for a mixed quark-hadron phase", in the Proceedings of 9th Intern. Workshop "Relativistic Nuclear Physics: from Hundreds of MeV to TeV" (Modra Harmonia, Slovakia, May 22-27, 2006) JINR, Dubna, 2006, pp. 230-247.
- 67. E. A. Soloviev, "Adiabatic approach in quantum theory", Lectures given at the Intern. Summer School on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Dubna, Russia, August 7-17, 2006); http://theor.jinr.ru/meetings/2006/fbs2006/program.htm
- 68. D. Tarpanov, Ch. Stoyanov, Nguyen Van Giai, V. V. Voronov, "Pygmy resonances in tin isotopes", in the Proceedings of the Twenty Fifth Intern. Workshop on Nuclear

Theory, (Rila Mountains, Bulgaria, June 26 - July 1, 2006), S. Dimitrova (ed.), DioMira, Sofia, 2006, pp. 133–138.

- 69. D. Tarpanov, Ch. Stoyanov, Nguyen Van Giai, V. V. Voronov, "Pygmy resonances in tin isotopes", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Nuclear Structure and Related Topics" (Dubna, Russia, June 13-17, 2006).
- 70. D. Tarpanov, Ch. Stoyanov, Nguyen Van Giai, V. V. Voronov, "Distribution of lowlying electric dipole strength in tin isotopic chain", to appear in the Proceedings of "2nd Intern. Conference on Collective Motion in Nuclei under Extreme Conditions" (Sankt Goar, Germany, June 20-23, 2006).
- 71. L. Tiator, S. Kamalov, "Nucleon resonance excitation with virtual photons", to appear in the Proceedings of the Workshop on the Shape of Hadrons (Athens, Greece, April 27-29, 2006); also arXiv: nucl-th/0610113, 2006.
- 72. A. I. Vdovin, N. Yu. Shirikova, "Gamma transitions between configurations "quasiparticle ⊗ phonon", in the Proceedings of 8th Intern. Spring Seminar on Nuclear Physics "Key Topics in Nuclear Structure" (Paestum, Italy, May 23-27, 2004) A. Covello (ed.), World Scientific, Singapore, 2005, pp. 531-538.
- 73. Shin Nan Yang, Guan Yeu Chen, S. S. Kamalov, "A meson-exchange  $\pi N$  model up to energies  $\sqrt{(s)} < 2.0$  GeV", to appear in the Proceedings of the 18th Intern. Conference on Few-Body Problems in Physics (Santos, Brazil, August 21-26, 2006); also arXiv: nucl-th/0610076, 2006.
- 74. P. Yotov, N. Minkov, R. V. Jolos, W. Scheid, "High order dependence of a nuclear rotation Hamiltonian", in the Proceedings of the Twenty Fifth Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory, (Rila mountains, Bulgaria, June 26 - July 1, 2006), S. Dimitrova (ed.), DioMira, Sofia, 2006, pp. 205-214.
- 75. B. N. Zakhariev, "Submissive quantum mechanics: New status of the theory in inverse problem approach", to appear in the Proceedings of the Intern. Conference "Inverse Problems in Applied Science – towards breakthrough" (Sapporo, Japan, July 3-7, 2006).
- 76. E. V. Zemlyanaya, K. V. Lukyanov, V. K. Lukyanov, I. N. Kukhtina, A. N. Antonov, K. M. Hanna, B. Słowiński, "Calculations of nucleus-nucleus microscopic optical potentials and the respective elastic differential and total reaction cross sections" in the Proceedings of the Twenty Fifth Intern. Workshop on Nuclear Theory, (Rila mountains, Bulgaria, June 26 - July 1, 2006), S. Dimitrova (ed.), DioMira, Sofia, 2006, pp. 301-313.
- 77. A. S. Zubov, G. G. Adamian, N. V. Antonenko, S. P. Ivanova, W. Scheid, "Isotopic dependence of neutron emission from dinuclear system", to appear in the Proceedings of Intern. Symposium on Exotic Nuclei "EXON - 2006" (Khanty-Mansiysk, Russia, July 17-22, 2006).